

# JOURNEY BEYOND THE HEAVENS

Majis Al-Madina-tul<mark>-Iliniyyah</mark> Donisted ina tegetiday Translation Department (Central of the

## **Points to Remember**

Highlight various points while reading the book wherever necessary. Write the topic and enter the page number in the columns below. Your knowledge will be enhanced, النشاء الله.

Topic	Page	Topic	Page

Торіс	Page	Topic	Page

فيضان معراج 'Faizan-e-Mi<sup>'</sup>rāj'

# Journey BEYOND THE HEAVENS

Presented by:

Majlis Al-Madina-tul-'Ilmiyyah (Dawat-e-Islami) (Shu'bah Islaahi Kutab)

Iranslated into English by:

Translation Department (Dawat-e-Islami)

An English translation of 'Faizan-e-Mi'rāj'

#### ٠

#### **ALL RIGHTS RESERVED**

Copyright © 2022 Maktaba-tul-Madinah

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of Maktaba-tul-Madinah.

1 <sup>st</sup> Publication:	Jumadal Awwal, 1444 AH (December, 2022)
Translated by:	Translation Department (Dawat-e-Islami)
Publisher:	Maktaba-tul-Madinah
Quantity:	3000

#### Sponsorship

Please feel free to contact us if you wish to sponsor the printing of a religious book or a booklet for the Isal-e-Sawab of your deceased family members.

#### Maktaba-tul-Madinah

Aalami Madani Markaz, Faizan-e-Madinah – Mahallah Saudagran, Purani Sabzi Mandi, Karachi, Pakistan

- 🖎 E-mail: maktabaglobal@dawateislami.net maktaba@dawateislami.net
- **D** Phone: +92-21-34921389-93
- 🗳 Web: <u>www.dawateislami.net</u>

ٱلۡحَمۡ لُلۡلَٰءِرَبِّ الۡعُلَمِيۡنَ وَالصَّلُوةُ وَالسَّلَامُ حَلۡ سَيِّ اِلۡمُرۡسَلِيۡنَ آمَّابَعۡ لُفَاَعُوۡذُ بِاللَّٰهِ مِنَ الشَّيۡطُنِ الرَّحِيۡمِ ۚ بِسُمِ اللَّهِ الرَّحۡ لِنِ الرَّحِيۡمِ

## Du'a for Reading the Book

Read the following Du'a (supplication) before you study a religious book or an Islamic lesson, you will remember whatever you study, النشآءالله:

ٱللَّهُمَّ افْتَحْ عَلَيْنَا حِكْمَتَكَ وَانْشُرْ عَلَيْنَا رَحْمَتَكَ يَا ذَا الْجَلَالِ وَالْإِكْرَام

## <u>Iranslation</u>

O Allah اعتَوْجَلَ! Open the doors of knowledge and wisdom for us, and have mercy on us, O the One Who is the most Honourable and Glorious!

(Al-Mustatraf, vol. 1, p. 40)

#### Note:

Recite Salat upon the Last Prophet 🕮 once before and after the Du'a.

## Table of Contents

Journey Beyond the Heavens	1
The blessings of Salat upon the Prophet	1
The Miracle of Mi'raj and the condition of that time	2
Explanation of the Event of Miʿrāj	4
Opening of the Blessed Chest	4
Mounting the Burāq	5
Departure towards Bayt Al-Muqaddas	6
Prayer at 3 places	6
Some scenes from the journey to Bayt al-Muqaddas	7
in Prayer سَعَلَيهِ السَّلَامِ a Prophet Mūsā عَلَيهِ السَّلَامِ	8
Arrival at Bayt Al-Muqaddas	8
in Prayer عَلَيْهِمُ السَّلَام Leadership of the Prophets	9
Vessels of Milk and Wine	10
عَلَيْهِمُ السَّلَام The Sermons of the Prophets	10
Ascension to the skies	14
The first sky	14
The Souls of the Dwellers of Paradise and Hell	14
The second sky	15
The third sky	15
The fourth sky	16
The fifth sky	17
The sixth sky	17
Sidrat al-Muntahā (The Lote Tree of the Farthest Limit)	19
The Station of Mustawā	19
Above the Lofty 'arsh	20
The Honour of the Beatific Vision of Allah Almighty and Direct Speech	21
The revelation of Lā Makān	
From 50 to 5 Prayers	22
Journey through Paradise	23
Arrival at the River of Kawthar	24
Vision of Hell	24
The Return Journey	24

The announcement of Miʿrāj	25
The Perfect Omnipotence of Allah Almighty	25
The Presenting of Bayt Al-Muqaddas	27
News of the Trade Caravans	28
	28
Some Priceless Madani Pearls From the Event of Mi'rāj	30
Ulul 'Azm Prophets (The Prophets of mighty resolve)	35
The virtue of Ummah Muhammadiyyah	35
The Mention of Miʿrāj in the Quran	35
The First Place	35
Madani Pearls	36
سُبُحْنَ The Wisdom of Starting the Verse with the Word	36
Remedy for Avoiding Sins	
Explanation of Allah's Omnipotence	
The Proof for Mi <sup>r</sup> rāj Being Physical	
The Second Place:	
The Third Place:	39
Beneficial Points Concerning the Mirāj	41
Denial of the Mi'rāj	
The Wisdoms of the Noble Miʿrāj	41
How Many Times Did Miʿrāj Occur?	44
Also Experience Mi'rāj? عَلَيْهِمُ السَّلَامِ Also Experience Mi'rāj?	44
Travel on Burāq؟	45
The Distance Between the Earth and the Lote Tree of the Farthest Limit	
The Beatific Vision of Allah Almighty	46
The Scenes of the Night of Mi rāj	
Concerning the Divine Bestowals	47
What was written upon the door of Paradise?	47
Domed Encampments Made of Pearl	49
Lofty palaces	50
If anger never comes?	50
The Status of al-Ṣiddīq al-Akbar بفين اللَّهُ عَنْهُ The Status of al-Ṣiddīq al-Akbar	51
	52
Explanation of the Hadith	53
Encampments of Rubies and Emeralds	

A person hidden in light	55
Jihad in the path of Allah Almighty	56
In Connection with the Divine Punishment	56
Four punishments for backbiting	57
People Devouring their own Flesh	57
Carrion Eating Dwellers of the Fire	57
People hanging from their chests	57
Finger nails of copper	
Women Backbite More	58
Two Punishments for Consuming Usury	59
A Person Swallowing Stones	60
Snakes in the Stomach	60
Explanation of the Hadith	60
Lesson of admonishment	61
Punishment of Crushing of the Head	61
Scissors of Fire	62
The end of an idle preacher	63
The Repentance of a Qādiyānī Professor	64
People Hanging from Branches of Fire	65
Three Punishments of Adulterers and Fornicators	66
Putrid Flesh Eating People	67
People Hanging Upside Down	67
Rocks of fire in their mouths	67
Eating Thorny Grass and Cacti as Punishment	69
Terrifying Punishment for Not Paying Zakat	69
Repent!	70
Who is honourable?	71
Learning a verse from the Book of Allah is better than 100 nawafil	71
Giving Legal Verdicts Without Knowledge	71

ٱلْحَمْدُلِلَّهِ رَبِّ الْعُلَمِيْنَ وَالصَّلُوةُ وَالسَّلَامُ عَلَى سَيِّلِ الْمُرْسَلِيْنَ آمَّا بَعُدُفَاَعُوْذُ بِاللَّهِ مِنَ الشَّيْطُنِ الرَّحِيْمِ لِسُمِ اللَّهِ الرَّحْمٰنِ الرَّحِيْمِ

## Twelve intentions for reading this book

The Holy Prophet صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم has stated:

## نِيَّةُ الْمُؤْمِنِ خَيْرٌمِّنُ عَمَلِهِ

#### "The intention of a Muslim is better than his deed."

#### Two Madani pearls:

- > Without good intentions, one will not attain the reward of good actions.
- However many good intentions one makes, commensurately the reward will be greater.
- 1. I will commence with Hamd and Durud, and
- 2. Ta'awwudh and Tasmiyah, each time. (By reciting the lines of Arabic presented at the top of this page, all of these intentions will be attained).
- 3. For the pleasure of Allah, I will read this book from its beginning to its end.
- 4. To the best of my ability, I will read this book in a state of ablution and,
- 5. facing the Qiblah.
- Wherever the blessed name of Allah Almighty is mentioned, I will say عَرَدَجَلَ
- Wherever the name of the Prophet حَلَّى الله علَيه وَالله وَسَلَّم is mentioned, I will say صَلَّى الله علَيه وَالله وَسَلَّم
- 8. I will encourage others to read this book.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Al-Mu'jam Al-Kabir-lil-Tabrani, vol. 3, p. 525, Hadith 5809

- Acting upon the hadith تهائز تمايلا Exchange gifts, you will increase in mutual affection."<sup>1</sup> I will purchase this book (one or more copies according to my ability) and present it to others.
- 10. If I find a shar'i mistake in the composing of this book, I will alert the publishers in writing, الن مَسَاءالله. (Informing the publishers verbally is not as effective).

## Three beneficial things

It is the saying of the Prophet حَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهِ وَسَلَّمَ "When a person passes away, his actions cease except for three:

- 1. Continuous charity,
- 2. or such knowledge through which benefit is attained,
- 3. or a pious child that supplicates for him."<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Muwatta Imam Malik, p. 483, Hadith: 1731

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sahih Muslim: 1631

41-Madina-tul-'Ilmiyyah

From: Shaykh-e-Tareeqat, Ameer-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat, the founder of Dawat-e-Islami, <sup>^</sup>Allāmah Maulana Abū Bilāl Muhammad Ilyas Attar Qaadiri Razāvi Ziyaee دَمَتْ بَرَكَاتُهُمُ الْعَالِيَهِ.

Dawat-e-Islami, a global and non-political movement for preaching Quran and Sunnah, is determined to revive Sunnah and spread righteousness as well as the knowledge of Shari'ah throughout the world. In order to carry out these great and significant tasks in an excellent way, several Majalis (departments) have been established including the Majlis 'Al-Madina-tul-'Ilmiyyah' which consists of the 'Ulama and Muftīs of Dawat-e-Islami. This Majlis has ambitiously taken on responsibility for serving Islam in the areas of knowledge, research and publication. It has the following six departments:

- 1. Department of books of A'la Hadrat رخمة الله عليه
- 2. Department of teaching books
- 3. Department of reforming books
- 4. Department of translation
- 5. Department of scrutiny of books
- 6. Department of referencing and documentation

The topmost priority of Al-Madina-tul-'Ilmiyyah is to present the precious books of A'la Hadrat, Imām-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat, the reviver of Sunnah, eradicator of Bid'ah, scholar of Shari'ah, 'Allāmah Maulana Al-Haaj, Al-Qaari, Ash-Shāh Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān من نام in an easily understandable way as per the needs of the present age. All the Islamic brothers and sisters should whole-heartedly cooperate in the development of the Madani work of knowledge, research and publication. They should also study every book published by the Majlis and motivate others to do the same.

May all the Majalis of Dawat-e-Islami including Al-Madina-tul-ʻIlmiyyah progress by leaps and bounds! May Allah عَرَوَجَلَ bestow success upon us in the worldly life as well as in the afterlife by granting us the Tawfeeq to perform each and every good deed with sincerity! May we all be blessed with martyrdom under the green dome, burial in Jannat-ul-Baqi' and an abode in Jannat-ul-Firdaus.

امِين بِجَاعِ حَاتَم النَّبِيتن صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ والمِه وَسَلَّم



Ramadan-ul-Mubarak 1425 AH

**Translation Department** 

(Dawat-e-Islami)

## Preface

Miracles are an illuminating, salient chapter in the blessed lives of the Prophets عَلَيُوا السَّلَا. It is not possible to reject their truthfulness in any way. It is a Divine law that whenever Allah Almighty has sent any Prophet for the guidance of humankind, he has also granted him some kind of miracle that astounds the minds of those who witness it, and incapacitates those who reject it, despite their utmost attempts to bring the likeness of it. Examples include the transformation of Prophet Mūsā's الله عليه العالية blessed staff into a snake and Prophet 'Īsā's عليه العالية resurrecting the dead etc. Then, when Allah Almighty sent forth our beloved Prophet dead etc. Then, when Allah Almighty sent forth our beloved Prophet all the miracles individually bestowed upon all the previous Prophets all the miracles individually bestowed upon all the previous Prophet.

Amongst the countless miracles of the beloved Prophet حَتَى الله عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم a unique, distinguished and prominent miracle is the Mi'rāj. In a short part of the night, the Prophet حَتَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم travelled above the seven skies, even beyond the mighty 'arsh and the kursī, crossing the boundaries of the created realms, experiencing Lā Makān and then returned to the earth.

In order to spread the blessings of this great miracle of our beloved Prophet, عَلَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَتسَلَّم Dawat-e-Islami's department Al-Madina-tul-'Ilmiyyah worked on this project, and in a short span of approximately one month, brought it to fruition.

#### About the book

The event of the blessed Mi<sup>'</sup>rāj is a very expansive subject and a lot of material is found regarding it, but the problem that presents itself is that there is a lot of variation between the narrations that relate to it. In such circumstances, our attempt has been to present only those narrations that the noble scholar where the considered preponderant, or if they have explained how concordance can be brought between varying narrations, then this is what has been mentioned, rather than presenting all the different variations.

The content of the book has been presented in 4 parts. The first part covers the event of Mi'rāj. The second part brings the verses of the Quran that relate to the blessed Mi'rāj and some Madani pearls that have been extracted from them. The third part mentions some miscellaneous and beneficial points of note related to the blessed Mi'rāj. The fourth part mentions the scenes witnessed by the beloved Prophet متل الله عليه واله وتسلّم on the night of the Mi'rāj.

Whatever good is in this work, then indeed it is from the aid and success bestowed by Allah Almighty, through the granting of the beloved Prophet مَعْلُواللهُ مُعْلُواللهُ رَعْلُواللهُ وَعَلَى اللهُ عَلَيُواللهِ وَعَلَى مَعْلُواللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيُواللهِ وَعَلَى مَعْلُواللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللهُ وَال

We ask Allah Almighty to grant all the departments of Dawat-e-Islami, including Al-Madinat-ul-Ilmiyyah, an increase in blessings.

ام ين بِجالا خاتَم النَّبِين صَمَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ والبه وَسَمَّ

Subdepartment for books for reformative books Al-Madinat-ul-'Ilmiyyah (Faisalabad) ٱلْحَمْدُلِلَّهِ رَبِّ الْعُلَمِيْنَ وَالصَّلُوةُ وَالسَّلَامُ عَلَى سَيِّلِالْمُ رَسَلِيْنَ اَمَّابَعْدُ فَاَعُوْذُ بِاللَّهِ مِنَ الشَّيُطٰنِ الرَّجِيمِ لِسْمِ اللَّهِ الرَّحْمٰنِ الرَّحِيمِ

# Journey Beyond the Heavens

## The blessings of Salat upon the Prophet 🕮

Our Beloved Prophet حَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم said, "Recite Salat upon me abundantly on the day of Jumu'ah as it is witnessed by the Angels. A person does not recite Salat upon me except that it is presented to me until he completes his recital. Sayyidunā Abū Dardā مَعْنَ اللهُ عَنَهُ "Even after you pass away?" He حَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهُ وَتَعَلَّم eplied, "Yes, even after my passing. Indeed Allah Almighty has forbidden upon the earth that it devour the bodies of the Prophets مَعْلَيُهِوُ السَّلَام. So the Prophets تَلَيْهِوُ السَّلَام Allah Almighty are alive and given sustenance."<sup>1</sup>

## صَلُّوا عَلَى الْحَبِيْبِ صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَى مُحَمَّد

Dear Islamic brothers! The creed of the people of Islam is that the Prophets عتيوه الشلام are alive in their graves with a real life as they were in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sunan Ibn Mājah: 1637

this world.<sup>1</sup> This is clear from the narration mentioned above.

Glory be to Allah Almighty! When this is the status of all the Prophets مَعَيَوهُ السَلَام، بعن الله عليهو السَلام، Glory be to Allah Almighty! When this is the status of all the Prophets, the beloved of the Creator, our master, the chosen Prophet Muhammad مَعْيَوواله وَسَلَّم Most definitely the Prophet أَسَلَ الله عليهو وَالله وَسَلَّم is still alive today and aiding and availing his devotees. However, our weak eye sights fall short of seeing him. How beautifully has my master, the Imām of Ahl Al-Sunnah, Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān مَعْدَ الله عليه وَالله وَعَالِيهُ وَعَالَيهُ مَعْلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ مَعْلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ مَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ عَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ عَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ مُعَالًا عَالَيْ عَلَيْ عَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ مُعَالًا عَالَيْ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ مُعَالًا عَلَيْهُ مُعَالًا عَالَيْهُ عَلَيْ عَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ عَالَيْ عَلَيْ وَعَالَيْ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالُيْ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالُيْ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ عَالَيْ عَالُهُ وَعَالَيْهُ وَعَالُيْ عَلَيْهُ وَعَالَيْ عَلَيْ وَعَالُيْ عَلَيْ وَعَالُهُ وَعَالَيْ عَلَيْ وَعَالَيْ عَلَيْ وَعَالَيْ عَلَ

Tu zindah hay Wallah! Tu Zindah hay Wallah! Meray chashm-e-'alam say chup jaanay waalay<sup>2</sup>

By Allah! You are alive. By Allah! You are alive O you who is veiled from the world of my eyes

## The Miracle of Mi'rāj and the Condition of That Time

When our beloved master, the chosen Prophet حَنَّ الله عَلَيُووَالهِ وَسَلَّ announced his prophethood and messengership and began calling people towards the worship of the One True God, Allah عَدَوَعَلَ , those who were steeped in disbelief and polytheism became his mortal enemies. Even though every page of the blessed life of the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمُ was before them, purer than the morning dew, more flourishing than flowers, more illuminating and more radiant than the sun and the moon, and free from every outward and inward defect and blemish, they began to belie the Prophet حَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ عَلَيْ وَاللهُ وَاللهُ

When they were unable to respond upon seeing the manifest signs of Prophethood, and nothing was succeeding for them, they alleged that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bahar-e-Shari'at, vol. 1, p. 58

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hada`iq-e-Bakhshish, vol. 1, p. 158

these miracles were magic and sorcery. These oppressors put thorns in his path, cast stones on his noble body, poured down calamities and adversities, and stoked an atmosphere of defamation and disparagement. All this oppression was increased when the Prophet's uncle, Abū Ṭālib, and then a few days later, the Mother of Believers, Sayyidah Khadījah Al-Kubra موالله عنها, both passed away in the 10<sup>th</sup> year after the Proclamation of Prophethood.

Despite all of these obstacles, the Beloved Prophet حَلَّى did not abandon the call of Islam and continued to prevent people from disbelief (*kufr*) and polytheism (*shirk*). At this delicate phase, whoever would accept the Prophet's call to the truth and become honoured with Islam would become the target of the brutality and oppression of the disbelievers. In this state, time passed slowly, and this 10<sup>th</sup> year also reached its conclusion.

Then the 11<sup>th</sup> year begins. In this year also, the atmosphere of defamation, disparagement, brutality, and oppression is stoked, but despite all these obstacles, adversities and calamities, the Prophet مَلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَالهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللَّعَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّعَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلْيُهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَعَلْيْهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلْيُهُ وَعَلْيُهُ وَعَلْيُعَالُو وَعَلْيَهُ وَعَلْيُهُ وَالْعُلَيْلُو وَعَلْيُهُ وَعَلْيُهُ وَالْعُلْعُلْيُهُ وَاللْعُعَلَيْهُ وَاللْعُلْيَالُهُ وَاللْعُلَيْعُو وَاللْعُلْعُلْيُهُ وَاللْعُوالِيْعُو وَاللّهُ وَعَلْيُهُ وَاللْعُلْيُهُ وَاللْعُولُيْلُهُ وَاللْعُلُولُولُهُ وَاللّهُ وَالْعُلُولُولُهُ وَاللْعُلُولُولُهُ وَالْعُلُولُولُ وَاللْعُلُولُولُولُ وَلُولُلُلْعُلُولُولُولُولُلُولُولُولُولُولُلُلْعُ وَلَيْلُولُلُلُولُ واللْعُلُلُولُلُولُ لَيْلُلُولُولُ والْ

In this way, the month of Rajab arrives and when its 27<sup>th</sup> night transpires, Allah Almighty honours His beloved Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَسَلَّم with a distinction that no one has ever received before him, nor will anyone receive after him. An incredible event that leaves the listener stunned, causes the disbelief and rejection of those that consider the intellect as the be all and end all to increase, and makes the belief of those fortunate ones of complete faith increase.

Dear Islamic brothers! This astounding occurrence is known as the Mi<sup>c</sup>rāj. In the Quran, mentioning it briefly, Allah Almighty states:

## سُبُّىٰ الَّانِىٰٓ اَسُرىبِعَبْدِهٖ لَيُلَّاصِّنَ الْمَسْجِدِا كُحَرَامِ إِلَى الْمَسْجِدِا لَاَقْصَا الَّاذِى برَكْنَا حَوْلَهٔ لِنُرِيَةُ مِنُ اليَّتِنَا لَاِنَّهُ هُوَ السَّمِيْحُ الْبَصِيُرُ۞

Glory be to Him Who took His bondsman by the night from the Sacred Mosque (the Ka'bah) to Al-Aqṣā Mosque around which We have placed blessing, in order that We may show him Our great signs. Indeed, He is the All-Hearing, the All-Seeing.<sup>1</sup>

Let us delve into its detailed explanation.

## Explanation of the Event of Mi'rāj

It is the beautiful, illuminated Monday night of the 27<sup>th</sup> of Rajab in the 11<sup>th</sup> year of the proclamation of Prophethood, 2 years before the migration.<sup>2</sup> The Beloved Prophet حَلَّ الله علَيْهِ وَاللهِ رَسَلَّم, having led the 'Isha prayer, is resting in the home of the daughter of his uncle, Sayyidah Umm Hānī لم بعضي الله عليه السالة, when the roof of the sanctified room opens. Sayyidunā Jibril عليه السالة, from the home of Sayyidah Umm Hānī مَنَ الله عليه والله وَسَلَّم from the home of Sayyidah Umm Hānī to al-Masjid al-Harām, laying him down in the *ḥatīm.*<sup>4</sup>

## **Opening of the Blessed Chest**

The beloved Prophet حَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيُووَ لَهِ وَسَلَّى was resting on one side, here (at the *ḥatīm* of the Ka'bah), with the effects of slumber still present<sup>5</sup> when Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيْهِ السَّلاَمِ presented himself once more. This time, he opened the blessed chest of the Prophet حَلَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّمَ from the blessed collarbone to the blessed stomach and extracted the pure heart. He filled it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kanz-ul-Iman (translation of Quran)] (Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`eel, verse 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mir'aat Al-Manajih, vol. 8, p. 135

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Al-Sirat Al-Nabawiyyah li Ibn-e-Hisham, vol. 2, p. 38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Fath Al-Baari, Kitaab Manaqib Al-Ansaar, Bāb Al-Mī rāj, vol. 7, p. 256, under the Hadith 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Al-Marja' al-Sabiq

## Mounting the Burāq

After this, a mount was presented in the sacred court of the Prophet متل الفقتيوزاله وسلم. It was a white animal called Burāq, and was larger than a donkey and smaller than a mule.<sup>2</sup> It was saddled and bridled<sup>3</sup> and its speed of travel was such that it would place its next step as far as its gaze would reach.<sup>4</sup> Whenever it would climb upwards, its forelegs would shorten and hind legs would extend, and whenever it descended from height, its forelegs would extend and hind legs would shorten. Because of this, its back would remain level in both states<sup>5</sup> so that the one mounted on it would not face any kind of difficulty.

When the beloved Prophet حَلَى الله عَلَيو وَالله وَسَلَّم moved closer and intended to mount the Burāq, it began to buck, unable to contain its happiness. Seeing this, Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيه السَّلام. Put his hand on the Burāq's mane saying, "Are you not ashamed, O Burāq? By Allah أَعَرَدَعَلَ الله عَنَوَدَعَلَ الله عَلَيه وَالله وَمَالَع الله عَلَيه وَالله وَمَالله مَالله الله وَالله مَالله الله مَالله من الله عليه والله والله والله والله والله من الله عليه والله وا

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Jāmi<sup>'</sup> al-Tirmidhī: 3131

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Al-Muʿjam al-Awsat lil-Ṭabarānī: 3879

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Al-Sirah Al-Nabawiyyah li Ibn Hisham, Dhikr Al-Isra Al-Mi<sup>e</sup>rāj; Jāmi<sup>e</sup> al-Tirmidhī: 3131

## **Departure towards Bayt Al-Muqaddas**

Then the Beloved Prophet حَتَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم mounted the Burāq and departed for Bayt Al-Muqaddas in a most dignified manner, as Sayyidunā 'Allāmah Būṣīrī مَحْمَةُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ mentions,

سَرَيْتَ مِنْ حَرَمٍ لَيُلَا إِلَى حَرَمٍ كَمَاسَرَى الْبَدُرُفِى دَاجٍ مِّنَ الظُّلُمِ<sup>1</sup>

By night, from one haram to another haram you did go Like the full moon travelling the dark sky with its glow

The meaning conveyed is that the Prophet حَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَّى travelled on the night of Mi'rāj from the Noble sanctuary of the Ka'bah to the Noble Sanctuary of Bayt Al-Muqaddas in such a glorious manner like the full moon traverses the intensely dark night sky, scattering light.

On this illuminated journey, the leader of the Angels, Sayyidunā Jibril متليه الشاهنة accompanied the Prophet عليه السَلام.2

## **Prayer at 3 places**

During the journey, Sayyidunā Jibril عليه السلام asked the Prophet متل الله عليه والم وتسلّم to alight at a place and offer prayer. He did so and Sayyidunā Jibril عليه السلام juring in Taybah (i.e., Madina al-Munawarrah) and the migration will take place towards it."

Then at another place, Sayyidunā Jibril عليه المسلام asked the Prophet متل الله عليه والمه وتسلم to alight and offer prayer. He did so and Sayyidunā Jibril متل الله عليه والمسلام said, "Do you know where you prayed? You prayed at Ṭūr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Qasidah Al-Burdah ma'a Sharhiha 'Asidah al-Shuhdah, p. 237

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

Sīnā<sup>1</sup> (Mount Sinai) where Allah Almighty granted Prophet Mūsā عَلَيُوالسَلَامِ the honour of speaking with Him."

Then at another place, Sayyidunā Jibril عليه المسلحة asked the Prophet متل الله عليه واله ورسلة to alight and offer prayer. He did so and Sayyidunā Jibril متل الله عليه واله ورسلة said, "Do you know where you prayed? You prayed in Bayt Lahm<sup>2</sup> (Bethlehem), where 'Īsā ibn Maryam was born."<sup>3</sup>

## Some scenes from the journey to Bayt al-Muqaddas

The Beloved Prophet حَلَى الله عليه وَاله وَمَنَا لله عليه والله وَعَاله وَمَنَا لله عليه والله وَعَاله وَ وعاله عاله وعاله وعاله

## ٱلسَّلَامُ عَلَيْكَ يَا أَوَّلُ، ٱلسَّلَامُ عَلَيْكَ يَا آخِرُ، ٱلسَّلَامُ عَلَيْكَ يَا حَاشِرُ

"Peace be upon you, O First One! Peace upon you, O Last One! Peace be upon you, O Hāshir!" Sayyidunā Jibril عليه واله تعليه ("Return their greeting O Prophet متلك من الله عليه واله وتله واله ومتلك," and he did. Then he passed by another group and the same occurred. Then he passed by a third group and the same occurred.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tūr refers to the mountain which lies between Egypt and Jerusalem where Allah Almighty granted Prophet Mūsā عليه الشلاء the honour of speaking with Him. As for Sīnā, Sayyidunā 'Ikrimah's view is that it is the name of the place where the mountain is situated. (*Tafsir al-Mazhari, Surah al-Tīn, under verse: 2, vol. 10, p. 273*)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Bayt Lahm. This is a place situated 6 miles south of Bayt al-Muqaddas. (Surat Al-Ard, Al-Qism Al-Awwal, p. 158)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Sunan al-Nasā î: 448

Afterwards, Sayyidunā Jibril عليه المسلام. said to the Prophet متل الله عليه واله وتشرق . "The old lady you noticed standing by the roadside was the world, it has as much time left as the remaining lifetime of that old woman. The one who tried to draw you towards himself was Iblis (shaytan), the enemy of Allah Almighty. He wanted you to incline towards him. Those that greeted you were Prophet Ibrāhīm, Prophet Mūsā and Prophet 'Īsā."

#### in Prayer علَيْهِ السَّلَام in Prophet Mūsā

It is mentioned in Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim that when the Prophet مَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمَ passed the grave of Prophet Mūsā مَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم some red sand dunes, he was standing praying in his grave.<sup>2</sup>

## Arrival at Bayt Al-Muqaddas

In this manner, witnessing the wonders of Allah's creation and meeting the Prophets عَلَيْهِمُ المَّا عَلَيْهِمُ المَالِعُ عَلَيْهُ مَا المُعْ عَلَيْهِمُ المَالِعُ عَلَيْهُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَالِعُ مَا مَالِعُ مَالُولُ towards the Masjid<sup>3</sup>, and tied the Burāq using the ring on the door of the Masjid which the previous Prophets عَلَيْهِ المَالَةُ لَيْ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ مَاللهُ مَالُولُ لَيْ مَاللهُ مَالُولُ مَالُولُ مَالُولُ مَالُولُ مَاللَهُ مَالُولُ مالِيْ مَالُولُ مَالُولُ مَالُولُ مَالِعُ مَالِيْ مَالُولُ مَالُكُمُ مَالُولُ مَالِيْلُولُ مَاللَهُ مَالُولُ مَالُولُ county and the Burāq into the fourth a singer and tied the Burāq using his finger and tied the Burāq there.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dala`il Al-Nubuwwah Li al-Bayhaqi, vol. 2, p. 362

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim: 2375

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Sunan al-Nasā • ī: 448

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Al-Sirah Al-Halabiyyah, vol. 1, p. 523 selected; Sharh Al-Zurqani 'Ala Al-Mawahib, Al-Maqsad Al-Khamis, vol. 8, p. 103, summarised

## in Prayer علتيوه السّلام in Prayer

In order to make apparent the lofty status of the Prophet معلّى الله عليه والبه ومتلّى, all the Prophet علتهوه السّلام all the Prophets معلّى الله عليه والبه ومتلّ. Muqaddas.<sup>1</sup> When he arrived, upon seeing him, they all greeted him and at the time of prayer, they all put him forward to lead them. Then Sayyidunā Jibril عليه واله وتسلّم took the hand of the Prophet عليه واله وتسلّم, brought him forward, and he led them all in prayer.<sup>2</sup>

Sayyidunā 'Allāmah Būṣīrī محمة اللوعليه says,

وَقَدَّمَتُك جَعِيْعُ الْأَبِيَاءِ بِهَا وَالرُّسُلِ تَقْدِيْمَ مَخُدُوْمٍ عَلى خَدَمِ<sup>3</sup>

In leading prayer, all Prophets and Messengers placed you forward giving you preference Like the one served is placed forward before his servants out of reverence

The meaning of the couplet is that all the Prophets متلقوة السلام put forward the Prophet متلقية والله وتسلّم to lead the prayer at Bayt Al-Muqaddas like the way one served is placed before the ones who serve him.

Glory be to Allah Almighty! What a prayer! All the Prophets and Messengers عَلَيُوهُ السَّلَام are followers in prayer, the leader of all the Prophets مَنْ الله عَلَيوة السَّلَام is their Imām, and the place of prayer is the first qiblah. Without doubt, there has never been a prayer like this in existence nor have the heavens witnessed such an event. In any case, the intricate virtue of the Beloved مَنْ الله عَلَيوة الله وَتَلَيوة مَالله عَلَيوة وَالله وَتَلَيمُ of being the first and the last was laid open on the night of al-Isra'. The veil was lifted from this secret and this meaning became as bright as daylight because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sunan al-Nasā'ī: 448

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sunan al-Nasā'ī: 448; Al-Mu<sup>-</sup>jam al-Awsat lil-Ṭabarānī: 3879; Al-Sirat Al-Halbiyah, vol. 1, p. 525

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Qasidah Al-Burdah Ma' Sharhiha 'Asidah al-Shuhdah, p. 240

today, the Prophet حَلَّ اللهُعَلَيْهِوَالْهِوَسَلَّمَ who was the last Messenger to be sent forth was leading all the previous Prophets and Messengers in prayer. Explaining this very secret, the reviver of Islam, the Imām of Ahl al-Sunnah, Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān مَحْمَةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ says:

Namaz-e-Aqşā may<u>n</u> tha yehi sirr, 'iya<u>n</u> ho<u>n</u> ma'na-e-awwal aakhir Keh dast basta hay<u>n</u> peechay haazir, jo saltanat aagay kar gaye thay

The secret of the prayer at Aqşā was to reveal the meaning of 'the First' and 'the Last' For standing behind him in prayer with folded hands, are all those who had reigned

in the past

## Vessels of Milk and Wine

According to the narrations of Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī, two vessels, one of milk and one of wine were presented to the Prophet حَلَّ الله علَيه واله وسلّم here. The Prophet حَلَّ الله علَيه واله وسلّم observed them both and accepted the vessel of milk. Upon this, Sayyidunā Jibril علَيه والسّلاء said,

## ٱلْحَمْدُ لِلَّهِ الَّذِي هَدَاكَ لِلْفِطْرَةِ لَوْ أَخَذْتَ الْخَمْرَ غَوَتْ أُمَّتُكَ

"Praise be to Allah Almighty who guided you towards fitra (natural disposition). If you had taken the wine, your Ummah would have strayed."<sup>2</sup>

## عليهؤالسلام The Sermons of the Prophets

In these illuminated and blessed surroundings of Bayt Al-Muqaddas, some of the Prophets عليهو الشلام also delivered sermons in which they extolled the praise of Allah Almighty and mentioned the endless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hada`iq-e-Bakhshish, vol. 1, p. 232

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 4809

bounties and mercies of Allah Almighty upon them. Thus, first of all, Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm عليه الستلام said:

## ٱلْحَمُدُلِلَّهِ الَّذِي اتَّخَذَ إِبْرَاهِيْمَ خَلِيُلًا وَّاَعْطَانِى مُلْكًا عَظِيْمًا وَجَعَلَنِي أُمَّةً قَانِتَّالِلَّهِ يُؤْتَمُ بِى وَانْقَذَنِى مِنَ النَّارِ وَجَعَلَهَا عَلَىَّ بَرُدًا وَّسَلَامًا

"All praise belongs to Allah Who has taken Ibrāhīm as His Khalīl, has given me an immense kingdom, made me a devoutly obedient community and one who leads and is followed and rescued me from the fire and made it cool and safe upon me."

Then Sayyidunā Mūsā عليه السّلام proclaimed,

ٱلْحَمْدُلِلَّهِ الَّذِي كَلَّمَنِي تَكْلِيُمَا وَّاصْطَفَانِي بِرِسَالَتِهِ وَكَلِمَاتِهِ وَقَرَّبَنِي إِلَيْهِ نَجِيًّا وَٱنْزَلَ عَلَّ التَّوْرَاةَ وَجَعَلَ هَلَاكَ آلِ فِرْعَوْنَ عَلى يَدِي وَنَجِلى بَنِي إِسْرَائِيْلَ عَلى يَدِئ

"All praise belongs to Allah Who has spoken to me directly, chosen me for His Message and His Words, drawn me near in conversing, revealed upon me the Torah and has brought to pass the destruction of Pharoah and the salvation of Bani Isra'il at my hands."

Then Sayyidunā Dawūd علَيُوالسَّلاَم pronounced,

ٱلْحَہْ لُلَّهِ الَّذِيْ خَوَّلَنِى حُوَّلَنِى مُلْكًا وَّانْزَلَ عَلَىَّ الزَّبُوْرَوَ الَانَ الْحَدِيْدَ وَسَخَّرَ لِيَ الطَّيْرَ وَالْجِبَالَ وَاتَانِىَ الْحِكْمَةَ وَفَصْلَ الْخِطَابِ

"All praise belongs to Allah Who has conferred upon me an immense kingdom, revealed the Zabūr upon me, softened iron for me, subjugated for me the mountains and the birds, and has given me wisdom and faṣl al-khitāb (the knowledge of deciding between truth and falsehood)."

Then Sayyidunā Sulayman علَيُوالسَّلاً، declared,

ٱلْحَمْدُ لِلَّهِ الَّذِي سَخَّرَ لِمَالرِّ يَاحَ وَالْجِنَّ وَالْإِنْسَ وَسَخَّرَ لِمَالشَّ يَاطِيُنَ يَعْمَلُوُنَ مَا شِئْتُ مِنُ مَّحَارِيْب وَتَمَاثِيُلَ وَعَلَّمَنِيْ مَنْطِقَ الطَّيْرِ وَكُلِّ شَيْءٍ وَّاَسَالَ لِيْ عَيْنَ الْقِطْرِ وَاعْطَانِيْ مُلْكًا عَظِيْمًا لَّ ؽڹٛڹۼؽڵؚٳؘ<u>ؘ</u>ػڕۣڡؚؚٞڹؙؗؗۄڹۼڕؽ

"All praise belongs to Allah Who has subjected the winds to my command as well as the jinn and humans, subjugated for me the devils so that they construct what I wish from elevated structures and images, Who has taught me the language of birds and of everything, made a spring of molten copper gush forth for me and granted me an immense kingdom which is not for any one after me."

Then Sayyidunā 'Īsā عليوالسَلاَه stated,

ٱلْحَمُدُلِلَٰهِ الَّذِي عَلَّمَنِى التَّوَراةَ وَالْإِنْجِيْلَ وَجَعَلَنِى ٱبْرِئُ الْأَكْمَةَ وَالْابَرَصَ وَأُحْيِى الْمَوْتَى بِإِذْنِه وَرَفَعَنِى وَطَهَّرَنِي مِنَ الَّذِيْنَ كَفَرُوْا وَاعَاذَنِي وَأُمِّى مِنَ الشَّيْطُنِ الرَّجِيْمِ فَلَمْ يَكُنُ لِلشَّيْطُنِ عَلَيْهَا السَّبِيْلَ

"All praise belongs to Allah Who has taught me the Torah and the Injil, caused me to heal those born blind and the lepers and raise the dead by Allah's permission, Who has raised me up, purified me from those that disbelieve and granted me and my mother protection against the cursed devil, so that the devil had no path by which to harm her."

After all these Prophets علَيَومُ السَّلَام had glorified Allah Almighty and mentioned the endless favours and mercies of Allah Almighty upon them, the Final Prophet صَلَى الله علَيُوة الموتسلَم delivered a sermon. Before doing so, he said that all of you have glorified your Lord عَزَوَجَلَ and now I am going to glorify my Lord عَزَوَجَلَ also. Then he صَلَى الله علَيُوة الموتسلَم,

## ٱلْحَمْدُلِلَّهِ الَّذِى ٱرْسَلَىٰ رَحْمَةً لِّلْعَلَمِيْنَ وَكَافَّةً لِّلنَّاسِ بَشِيْرًا وَّنَذِيْرًا وَٱنْزَلَ عَلَىَّ الْفُرْقَانَ فِيْهِ تِبُيَانُ كُلِّ شَىٰءٍ وَجَعَلَ أُمَّتِىٰ حَيْرَ أُمَّةٍ أُخْرِجَتْ لِلنَّاسِ وَجَعَلَ أُمَّتِى أُمَّةً وَّسَطَا وَّجَعَلَ أُمَّتِى هُمُ الْاوَّلُوْنَ وَهُمُ الْآخِرُوْنَ وَشَرَحَ صَدْرِى وَوَضَعَ عَنِّى وِزْرِى وَرَفَعَ لِى ذِكْرِى وَجَعَلَىٰ فَاتِحَاوَّ خَاتِمًا

"All praise belongs to Allah, Who has sent me as a mercy to all the worlds, to all without exception, a bearer of glad tidings and a warner. Who has revealed upon me the Criterion (al-Quran), in which there is a perfect exposition of all things.

Who has made my Ummah the best community brought forth for the benefit of humankind, made my Ummah an upright middle community and made my Ummah the first and the last. Who has expanded my chest, relieved me of my burden, made exalted my mention, and made me the Opener and the Sealer."

Upon hearing this, Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm علَيُوالسَلاً said,

has surpassed you!"1 صَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاليه وَسَلَّم With this, Muhammad سَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَا

Glory be to Allah Almighty! How lofty and elevated is the status of our beloved Prophet صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالْهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ مَعْ مَالَةً عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَيْعَالَيْ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَيْ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَيْعَانَةُ وَاللَيْ وَاللَيْ وَاللَيْ وَالْعُلَيْ وَاللَيْ وَاللَيْ وَاللَيْ وَالْعُلَيْ وَالْعُلَيْ وَاللَيْعَالَةُ وَاللَيْ وَاللَيْ وَاللَيْ وَاللَيْ وَالْعُلَيْ وَاللَيْ وَالْعُوْ وَالْعُلَيْ وَالْعُوْ وَالْعُوْلَيْ وَاللَيْ

Sab say Awla-o-A'la hamara Nabi, Sab say Baala-o-A'la hamara Nabi, Khalq say Awliya, Awliya say Rusul, Aur Rasoolo<u>n</u> say A'la hamara Nabi Mulk-e-Kawnain may<u>n</u> Ambiya Taajdaar Taajdaaro<u>n</u> ka Aaqa hamara Nabi<sup>2</sup> Most sublime and most exalted is our Nabi Most elevated and most lofty is our Nabi Above people are the Awliya, the Prophets are beyond every Wali Superior to all the Prophets is our Nabi The kings in both worlds are every Nabi Leader of all these kings is our Nabi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dala`il Al- Nubuwwah Li Al-Bayhaqi, vol. 2, p. 400

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hada`iq-e-Bakhshish, vol. 1, p. 138

## Ascension to the skies

## The first sky

After the events of Bayt Al-Muqaddas, the beloved Prophet حَتَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم began his journey towards the heavens. Traversing all heights, the Prophet حَتَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم no time, the Prophet حَتَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم

It is mentioned in narrations that the Prophet حَلَّ اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالَهِ وَمَنَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالَهِ وَمَنَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالَهِ وَمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ مَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ مَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ عَلَيُوالْهُ عَلَيُوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَالِ اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَالَ اللَّهُ عَلَيُوالْمَالَ اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْمَا اللَّعْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْ اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْ اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْمَالَةُ عَلَيوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْ اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْمَا اللَّهُ عَلَيوالْ اللَّهُ عَلَيوالُ اللَّ

When the Prophet حَلَى الله عَلَيهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم entered through the gate and went upwards in this sky, he saw that Prophet Ādam عَلَيهِ السَّلام was present. Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيهِ السَّلام said, "This is your father Prophet Ādam عَلَيهِ السَّلام greet him." The Prophet عَلَيهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّم greeted him and he replied. Welcoming the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّم the said, "Welcome to the righteous son and the righteous Prophet!"<sup>2</sup>

## The Souls of the Dwellers of Paradise and Hell

"The Prophet مَنَّى اللهُ عَلَيُهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّم noticed some people to the right and left of Prophet Ādam عَلَيْهِ السَلَام looked to his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Umdah Al-Qaari, vol. 11, p. 603, Hadith 3887; Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

right, he would smile, and whenever he looked to his left, he would weep. Sayyidunā Jibril عقيه الشلام mentioned, "These forms on his left and right are his offspring. The ones on his right are the people of Paradise and those on the left are the people of hell."<sup>1</sup>

## The second sky

Then the beloved Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيُو وَالهِ وَمَنَّ began the ascent to the second sky. In no time, they came upon the second sky. Here, the same process transpired as before. Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُهِ العَلاَءِ asked for the gate to be opened. It was asked, "Who is this?" Sayyidunā Jibril gate replied, "I am Jibril." It was then asked, "Who is with you?" He replied, "The chosen one, Muhammad عَلَيُوالهِ وَاللهِ عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ عَلَيهِ العَلامِ." It was asked, "Has he been sent for?" He replied, "Yes." Upon this, it was said, "Has he been sent for?" He replied, "Yes." Upon this, it was said, arrived!" Then the gate was opened.

When the Prophet حَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهِ وَمَلَّمَ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهِ وَمَلَّمَ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ وَمَا وَعَلَى وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ وَمَا لَعَا يَعْهُ وَاللَّهُ وَمَا يَعْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام. Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام. Said, "These are Prophet Yaḥyā and Prophet 'Īsā عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام. greet them." The Prophet صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَهُ وَمَنَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ مَا اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ مَا المَعْ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ مَا اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ مَنْ مَنْ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ لَهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَالَهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَالَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَا عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ وَالْعُالَةُ وَا لَكُولُهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَا عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ وَالَهُ وَا عَلَيْ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْهُ وَالَةُ مَا عَلَيْهُ وَالَةُ عَلَيْهُ وَا لَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ واللَهُ عَلَيْهُ واللَهُ عَلَيْ عَلَهُ وَا اللَهُ عَلَيْهُ وَالْعُ وَالَةُ عَلَيْ

## The third sky

Then the beloved Prophet مَنَّى اللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم began the ascent to the third sky. When they reached it, Sayyidunā Jibril عليه المسلام asked for the gate to be opened. It was asked, "Who is this?" Sayyidunā Jibril عليه السَلام

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 349

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3787

replied, "I am Jibril." It was then asked, "Who is with you?" He replied, "The chosen one, Muhammad صَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم." It was asked, "Has he been sent for?" He replied, "Yes." Upon this, it was said, it was said, "Welcome to him! What an excellent visitor has arrived!" Then the gate was opened.

When the Prophet مَنَّلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم entered through the gate and went upwards, he saw Prophet Yūsuf عَلَيْهِ السَّلاَم Sayyidunā Jibril مَنَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم "This is Prophet Yūsuf مَنَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم greeted him and he replied. Welcoming the Prophet بمَنْ حَبُّ إِبِالاَحْ الصَّالِحِ وَالنَّبِي الصَّالِحِ العَالِحِ وَالنَّبِي الصَّالِحِ العَالِحِ الصَّالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ المَّالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالعَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَالعَالِحَ عَلَيْهِ السَّاحَ عَلَيْهِ السَّاحَ عَلَيْهِ السَّاحَ العَالِحِ مَا اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَالعَالِحِ مَا العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ مَا العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ وَالتَّبِي الصَّالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحَ العَالِحَ العَالِحِ الحَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحَ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ الحَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ اللهُ مَالِحَالِحِ العَالِحِ اللهُ عَلَيْ اللهُ مَالِحَالِحِ اللهُ عَلَيْحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ الحَالِحِ الحَالِحِ العَالِحِ الحَالِحَ العَالِحَ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ العَالِحِ الحَالِحَ العَالِحَ العَ

## The fourth sky

Then the ascent to the fourth sky began. When they reached there, the same process occurred. Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُوالعَادَة asked for the gate to be opened. It was asked, "Who is this?" Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُو السَادَة replied, "I am Jibril." It was then asked, "Who is with you?" He replied, "The chosen one, Muhammad تَرَعَنَا لِهُ عَلَيُو دَالَهِ وَتَالَم ." It was further asked, "Has he been sent for?" He replied, "Yes." Upon this, it was said, أنبوي مُرَحَبًا بِهِ فَيْعَمَ الْمَعِينَ عَلَيْهِ المَعَانِ. "Welcome to him! What an excellent visitor has arrived!" Then the gate was opened.

When the Prophet مَنَى الله عليه وَالله وَتعلَم when the gate and went عليه والله وَتعلَم entered through the gate and went upwards, he saw Prophet Idrīs عليه المستلام. Sayyidunā Jibril مَنَى الله عليه والله وتعلَم "This is Prophet Idrīs عليه المستلام, greeted him and he replied. Welcoming the Prophet مَن الله عليه واله وتعلَم , he said, مَن الله عليه واله وتعلَم المستلام welcome to the righteous brother and the righteous Prophet!"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

## The fifth sky

Then the beloved Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيُو وَالَهِ وَسَلَّمُ began the ascent to the fifth sky. When they reached it, Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُوالدَّارَ again asked for the gate to be opened. It was asked, "Who is this?" Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُوالدَّارَ replied, "I am Jibril." It was then asked, "Who is with you? He replied, "The chosen one, Muhammad حَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمُ اللهُ عليه والله وَسَلَّمُ Welcome to him! What an excellent visitor has arrived!" Then the gate was opened.

When the Prophet مَنَّلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم entered through the gate and went upwards, he saw Prophet Hārūn عَلَيْهِ السَّلاَم Sayyidunā Jibril مَنْ يَعْلَيُهِ السَّلاَم "This is Prophet Hārūn عَلَيْهِ السَّلاَم greeted him and he replied. Welcoming the Prophet hard مَنْ مَنْ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالنَّبِي الصَّالِح said, "Welcome to the righteous brother and the righteous Prophet!"

## The sixth sky

After meeting Prophet Hārūn عَلَيْهِ السَّلَا، the beloved Prophet عَلَيْهِ وَالْهِ وَمَلَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَمَلَ مَعْنَاهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَ مَعْنَاهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَ مَعْنَاهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَ مَعْنَاهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَ مَعْنَاهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَلَهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَا مَعْنَاهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَعَلَيْهُ مَعْنَاهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَمَا مَعْنَا مُعْنَا مَعْنَا مَعْنَا مَعْنَا مَعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مَعْنَا مَعْنَا مَعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مَعْنَا مَعْنَا مُعْنَا مَعْنَا مَعْنَا مُعْنَا مُ مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَا مُعْنَ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

When the noble Prophet مَعَلَّ الله عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم bentered through the gate and went upwards, he saw Prophet Mūsā عَلَيُو السَّلَام Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُو السَّلَام is Prophet Mūsā مَعَلَيُو السَّلَام greeted him and he replied. Welcoming the Prophet مَنْ اللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم he said, "This is Prophet Mūsā مَرْمَتُا بِالَاَمِ السَّلَام began to the righteous Prophet!". After this meeting when the noble Prophet مَنْ الله عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم he said, "What is it that makes you weep?" He replied, "I weep because more people will enter Paradise from the Ummah of a young man who was sent after me, than will enter from mine."<sup>1</sup>

## The seventh sky

Then the Prophet حَلَي وَالله وَسَلَّم ascended to the seventh sky. When they reached it, Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَي والله وَسَلَّم asked for the gate to be opened. It was asked, "Who is this?" Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَي والبار ("I am Jibril." It was then asked, "Who is with you?" He replied, "The chosen one, Muhammad تَرَقَيْنَا وَلَي وَالله وَتَعَانَ وَالله وَمَارَ ("He replied, "Has he been sent for?" He replied, "Yes." Upon this, it was said, "Has he been sent welcome to him! What an excellent visitor has arrived!" Then the gate was opened.

When the noble Prophet صَلَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهِ وَسَلَّم entered through the gate and went upwards, he saw Prophet Ibrāhīm Khalīlullah عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام <sup>2</sup> resting against Bayt al-Ma<sup>c</sup>mūr.<sup>3</sup> Sayyidunā Jibril علَيْهِ السَّلَام said, "This is your father, Prophet Ibrāhīm, greet him." The Prophet

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sahīh al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bayt al-Ma'mur is the qiblah of the Angels. It is parallel to the Ka'bah above the seventh sky. In some narrations, it is mentioned that the Prophet عَلَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم led the angels in prayer there just as he led the Prophets عَلَى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم in prayer in Masjid al-Aqsa. (*Mir`aat Al-Manajih, Mi'rāj Ka bayan, vol. 8, p. 135*); *Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim: 162* 

him and he replied. Welcoming the Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ دَسَلَّم he said, صَلَّى الله علَيْهِ وَاللهِ مَوْضَلًا بِالْإِنْنِ الصَّالِح وَالنَّبِي الصَّالِح وَالنَّبِي الصَّالِح وَالنَّبِي الصَّالِح وَالنَّبِي الصَّالِح وَالنَبِي الصَّالِح

## Sidrat al-Muntahā (The Lote Tree of the Farthest Limit)

After meeting Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm عليه السلام on the seventh sky, the noble Prophet متلى الله عليه واله وسلّى ascended to Sidrat Al-Muntahā.<sup>2</sup> It is a luminous lote tree whose roots are in the sixth sky and branches are above the seventh.<sup>3</sup> Its fruit is large like the jars of the place known as Hajar and its leaves are like the ears of the elephant.

Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُوالسَادَ said, "This is Sidrat Al-Muntahā." The Prophet مَلْ الله عَلَيُوداله وَمَلَ noticed four rivers emanating from the base of Sidrat Al-Muntahā, two hidden rivers and two visible ones. The Prophet مَلْ الله عَلَيُوداله وَمَلَ asked, "What are these rivers, O Jibril?" He replied, "The hidden ones are two rivers of Paradise<sup>4</sup>. The visible ones are the Nile and the Euphrates."<sup>5</sup>

## The Station of Mustawā

When the beloved Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم moved beyond Sidrat Al-Muntahā, Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام stopped and excused himself.<sup>6</sup> Then, the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم travelled onwards and ascending upwards, he حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ مَسَلَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mir`aat Al-Manajih, Mi<sup>c</sup>rāj Ka bayan, vol. 8, p. 143

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> These heavenly rivers are Kawthar and Salsabīl, or Kawthar and the River of Reḥmah (mercy). (*Mir`aat Al-Manajih, Miʿrāj Ka bayan, vol. 8, p. 144*)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3887; Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim: 162

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Al-Mawahib, Al-Maqsad Al-Khamis, vol. 8, p. 103

Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّ heard the screeching of pens.<sup>1</sup> The Angels record the daily affairs of the Divine Decree, and record a year's decree from al-Lawḥ al-Maḥfūẓ (the Preserved Tablet) on separate scrolls with these pens. These scrolls are then passed over to the deputised angels, connected to the 15<sup>th</sup> night of Sha<sup>c</sup>bān.<sup>2</sup>

## Above the Lofty 'arsh

Then, the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم travelled beyond the Mustawā and arrived at the 'arsh and traversed beyond it and arrived where "when" and "where" themselves had ceased, because these words are used for time and place and the extent of the Prophet's حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم ascent was where there was no place nor time, and for this reason it is called *Lā Makān*.

Suraagh-e-ain-o-mataa kahan tha Nishaan-e-kaif-o-ilaa kahan tha Na koi rahi na koi sathi Na sang-e-manzil na marhalay thay <sup>3</sup>

For 'where and when' there were no clues, for 'how and to' there were no traces Neither was there a traveller, nor a companion, nor a milestone nor any phases

Here, Allah Almighty bestowed such a special nearness upon His beloved Prophet حَتَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَمَّم that no other has attained nor will attain. The Quran mentions the wording تَاب قَوْسَيْن (Qābā Qawsayn),<sup>4</sup> which is used when the intention is to inform of utmost proximity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 349

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mir`aat Al-Manajih, Mi<sup>c</sup>rāj Ka bayan, vol. 8, p. 155

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Hada`iq-e-Bakhshish, vol. 1 p. 235

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 7517

## The Honour of the Beatific Vision of Allah Almighty and Direct Speech

The noble, beloved Prophet حَلَّى الله علَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم saw Allah Almighty, in a wakeful state, with the blessed eyes of his blessed head, a vision for which there was no time nor place, nor veil, nor covering, nor was there any angel or human being, and he attained the honour of speaking with Allah Almighty directly.<sup>1</sup>

## The revelation of Lā Makān

What was the revelation that Allah Almighty revealed to His chosen servant at this station of close proximity and what secrets were bestowed? The Holy Quran describes this in the following words,

## فَأَوْحى إِلَى عَبْدِ بِمِمَا أَوْحَى

"So He revealed to His servant that which He revealed."

Most of the research scholars say that no one knows the content of this particular revelation because the secrets of the One who loves and the one He loves are not divulged to others. If Allah Almighty wished to make this apparent, He would have mentioned it Himself, but he did not, saying, "So He revealed to His servant that which He revealed." Therefore, who would venture to determine it?

In any case, in summary, this much can be said that whatever Allah Almighty, according to His divine wisdom, wished to confer upon His beloved Prophet مَنَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم from physical, spiritual, inward and outward bounties, knowledge, and cognisance, both religious and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For detailed information about the noble Messenger's حَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالَبِهِ وَتَمَلَّ مَعْ 'arsh and his seeing Allah Almighty without any veil, refer to the treatise مُمَتِّهُ المُثْيَة بِوُصُوْلِ الْحَبِيْبِ اِلَى in Fatawa Al-Ridwiyyah, vol. 30, p. 637
worldly, He did. However, the manifestation of each bounty, knowledge, and wisdom occurred at its appointed time and continues to occur.<sup>1</sup>

#### From 50 to 5 Prayers

Allah Almighty granted the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّى 50 prayers for every day and night. Upon returning, when the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم reached Sayyidunā Mūsā مَعَلَيْهِ السَّلاَم Sayyidunā Mūsā asked, "What obligation did your Lord impose on your Ummah?" He replied, "Fifty prayers." Sayyidunā Mūsā مَعَلَيْهِ السَّلاَم said,

ؚٳۯڿؚۼؙٳؚڶڶڒۑؚۜڬڡؘٵۺٱؘؘۘٞؖؗؗؗۿٵٮؾۧڂؚ۫ڣؽڡ۬ڡؘٵؚڹٞٲڡؖؾؘڬؘ؆ڽؙڟۣؽڠۛۏڹٙڋؗڶؚڬڡؘٳڣۣٚ<mark></mark>ۊۮؠؘڸؘۏؾۢڹؚؽۯٳۺ؆ٳؿؚؽڶٷڂؠؘۯؾؙۿ

"Return to your Lord and ask Him to lighten (the burden), for indeed your Ummah are not going to be able to fulfill it. Indeed, I tried and tested Bani Isra'il."

صَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَم Thus, the matter continued in this way that the Prophet صَلَى الله عَلَيْه وَالله وَسَلَم presented himself in the court of Allah Almighty and He reduced the prayers by five. Then the Prophet صَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَم would come before Prophet Mūsā عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام and he would be returned to request a further reduction until Allah Almighty said, "O Muhammad! There are five

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Maqalat-e-Kazimi, vol. 1, p. 195 Summarized

prayers in every day and night, and the reward of every prayer is tenfold. Thus, they are (like) fifty prayers. Whoever intends to perform a good deed, but then he does not perform it, one good deed will be recorded for him. If he does perform it, ten good deeds will be recorded for him. Whoever intends to commit a bad deed, and then he refrains from it, no bad deed will be recorded in his book of deeds. If he does the bad deed, then one bad deed will be recorded against him." The Prophet مَلَ الله عليه والعَالَة. The Prophet Mūsā عليه العَالَة. Whereupon Prophet Mūsā عليه العَالَة. "The Prophet مَلَ الله عليه والعَالَة. " replied, "I have gone back again to my Lord so many times that now I feel shy from Him."<sup>1</sup>

#### Journey through Paradise

After this, the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيَّو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم returned to Sidrat Al-Muntahā. This time, different colours had spread across it. It is mentioned in a narration that the angels requested Allah Almighty to see the Prophet مَتَلَى الله عَلَيَّهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم, so Allah Almighty granted them permission. Those Angels spread themselves upon Sidrat Al-Muntahā to gain the honour of seeing the Prophet مَتَلَ اللهُ عَلَيَّهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم was taken to Paradise. There were palaces of pearls and its soil was musk.<sup>3</sup> The Prophet مَتَلَ اللهُ عَلَيَّهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم noted four rivers here; one of water which does not change, a second of milk whose taste does not alter, a third of wine such that those who drink from it find it only pleasing (without intoxication) and the fourth of pure honey.

Its pomegranates were like drums in size and its birds like camels. In it, Allah Almighty has prepared for His obedient slaves such rewards

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim:162

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> al-Dur al-Mansoor, Surah Al-Najm, verse 16, vol. 14, p. 28

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 3342

that no eye has seen, nor any ear has heard, nor any human has imagined.<sup>1</sup>

#### Arrival at the River of Kawthar

During his journey through Paradise, the Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم at a river on whose banks were dome encampments of hollowed pearl and whose soil was pure musk. The Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم "What is this O Jibril?" He replied, "It is Kawthar that your Lord عَوَوَجَلَ has bestowed upon you."<sup>2</sup>

#### Vision of Hell

After traveling through Paradise, he was shown hell such that he was in Paradise and the veil was lifted over hell so that he could see it.<sup>3</sup> Then it was veiled from him and he returned to Sidrat al-Muntahā.<sup>4</sup>

#### **The Return Journey**

Then the return journey began until the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيُهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمُ reached the nearest sky and upon looking below it, he saw dust and smoke filled with clamour. He asked Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُهِ السَّلَامَ. "What is this, O Jibril?" He replied, "These are the devils that swarm over the eyes of human beings to stop them reflecting upon the dominions of the heavens and the earth. If this dust and smoke was not here, then people would have seen the wonders of creation."<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dala`il Al- Nubuwwah Li al-Bayhaqi, vol. 2, p. 394

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 2581

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Al-Mawahib al-Ladunniyyah, vol. 2, p. 381

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hashiya Al-Dardir ʻala Qissah Al-Mí rāj, p. 22; Dala `il Al-Nubuwwah Li al-Bayhaqi, vol. 2, p. 390

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Musnad Aḥmad: 8872

The Prophet مَنَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالْهِ وَسَلَّى also saw three trade caravans of Quraysh en route to Al-Makkah Al-Mukarramah.<sup>1</sup>

# The announcement of Mi<sup>c</sup>rāj

#### The Perfect Omnipotence of Allah Almighty

Dear Islamic brothers! It is the grandeur of the Divine Power of Allah Almighty that in a small part of the night, He took His beloved Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيَّةِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم on a journey to Bayt Al-Muqaddas, the seven skies and even beyond the *'arsh* and *kursī* to Lā Makān.

Some ignorant people that are in the habit of trying to weigh every single matter according to the scales of human intellect try to involve their feeble intellects in such matters. When they cannot avail anything, they become rejecters of the Omnipotence of Allah Almighty based on false interpretations and feeble conjectures, متكاوَاته, Allah Almighty forbid!

Remember! Allah Almighty is absolutely All Powerful. He is capable over every possible thing. This sky, this earth, these mountains, these oceans, this moon, this sun, these distances and these stages of journeys are all from His creation. He can fold distance for whomever He wills and He can extend it for whomsoever He wills. The intellects fall short of encompassing Him.

Furthermore, by His Divine Power, He has blessed His beloved Prophets and Messengers عليها السّلام with such affairs which are habitually impossible. Such matters are known as a *mu<sup>c</sup>jizah* (miracle). Examples are Sayyidunā Mūsā's عليه السّلام blessed staff

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The explanation of these caravans will be mentioned ahead.

transforming into a snake and Sayyidunā 'Īsā's عليوالسَلام bringing the dead back to life and giving sight to those born blind etc. Allah Almighty has bestowed the most superior Prophet and Messenger, our master, the chosen one, Sayyidunā Muhammad سَلَ الله عَلَيُواله وَسَلَ dub the most miracles. We should have sound faith in Allah's Almighty omnipotence.

The conduct of the shining stars of the sky of guidance, the noble companions مرضى الله عنهم is the best of guides for us. These lofty personalities delivered exemplary conduct in every sphere of life and left the best of examples for those coming after them. They have shown that however amazing a matter is, or however astounding it may be; one should have complete faith in Allah Almighty and His Messenger مَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله عَلَيْهِ.

In relation to the affirmation of the event of Mi'rāj, let us note the blessed conduct of the most superior of the companions, Sayyidunā Abū Bakr متنّى الله عليه والهويدار. When the Prophet متنّى الله عليه عليه announced the Mi'rāj in the blessed surroundings of Makkah Al-Mukarramah (رادكا الله كَرَبَاوَ تَعْطِيُهُمُ الله disbelieving polytheists, immersed in the filth of their disbelief and polytheism, rejected it, as was their habit.

According to the narrations, on the morning of Mi'rāj, the blessed Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيُو دَاله دِيمَاً، was seated alone at a place thinking about the people rejecting the event of Mi'rāj, whereupon Abū Jahl passed by that spot. Seeing the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيُو دَاله مَعَاذَ الله and as the seated alone in a state of contemplation, Abū Jahl came and sat beside him and مَعَاذَ الله مَعَاذَ الله مَعَاذَ الله عليه دَاله وَسَلَّم to mock the Prophet مَعَاذَ الله عليه دَاله وَسَلَّم to mock the Prophet مَعَاذَ الله عليه دَاله وَسَلَّم saying, "Has something new happened?" The beloved Prophet مَعَانَ الله عَلَيه دَاله وَسَلَّم asked, "What is that?" The Prophet مَلَ الله عَلَيه وَاله وَسَلَّم oreplied, "I was taken on a night journey." Abū Jahl enquired, "Where to?" The Prophet مَلَ الله عَلَيه دَاله وَعَلَيه وَاله وَسَلَّمَ

Hearing this, this enemy of the Messenger found a new way of stopping people from the call to Islam and turning weak Muslims against Islam. Abū Jahl decided not to belie the Prophet immediately; assuming that متاذ الله عليوواله وستلّم the Prophet against the prophet are observed.

The narrations mention that he said to the Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم. "What do you think if I called the people to you here? Will you tell them what you just told me?" The noble, beloved Prophet of Allah Almighty مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم replied, "Yes." Then Abū Jahl called out to the people to assemble. When people had gathered, the Prophet informed them of that which he had informed Abū Jahl. Considering it a lie مَعَاذَالله مَعَاذَالله مَعادَالله مَعَادَالله مَعَادَالله مَعَادَالله مَعَادَالله مَعَانَا مَعَانَا مُعَادًا مُعَانَا مُعَادًا مُعَانَا مُع

#### The Presenting of Bayt Al-Muqaddas

There were people amongst those that had gathered that had seen Bayt Al-Muqaddas, so they asked the Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيُهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم to describe it. The noble Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيُهِ وَاللهِ مَسَلَّى had begun to describe it until he reached a point whereupon Bayt Al-Muqaddas was miraculously presented before the Prophet صَلَى اللهُ عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم and gazing upon it, he describe all its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Muşannaf ibn Abī Shaybah: 62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Durr Al-Manthur, Surah Bani Isra`il, Under the verse. 1, vol. 9, p. 191

details. At this point, the people proclaimed, "By Allah Almighty, this is correct."<sup>1</sup>

#### News of the Trade Caravans

Some people then asked about their trade caravans that were now returning from their trade in other lands. The Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيّهِ وَالله وَسَلَم informed them about the trade caravans and about the place and time of arrival of their trade caravans. Everything transpired in accordance with the statement of the Prophet حَلَ الله عَلَيّهِ وَالله وَسَلَم . Instead of bringing faith in the Prophethood and Messengership of the Prophet مَلَ الله عَلَيّهِ وَالله وَسَلَم, in complete opposition to this, they began to accuse the Prophet صَلَّ الله عَلَيّهِ وَالله وَسَلَم.<sup>2</sup>

#### The Affirmation of Al-Ṣiddīq Al-Akbar مخى الله عنه الله عنه

Dear Islamic brothers! When our Beloved Prophet حَمَّلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم informed the people of the event of the Mi<sup>r</sup>rāj, the disbelieving polytheists who were proud of their intellect could not fathom how a person could travel to Bayt al-Muqaddas in a short part of the night.

Consequently, they found a new way of belying the noble Messenger صَلَّى الله عَلَيّه وَالله وَمَلَى. They raised such an insolent clamour that some people of weak faith wavered, became ensnared in their trap of deception, and lost the light of faith. Thus, it is mentioned in narrations that on the morning of Mi<sup>r</sup>rāj, when our beloved Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم mentioned this event to the people, some of those that had believed in the Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم and affirmed him now apostatised.<sup>3</sup>

In opposition to this, those of perfect faith became stronger in their faith. Their certainty in the omnipotence of Allah Almighty and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Muşannaf ibn Abī Shaybah:61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Khasa`is Al-Kubra, vol. 1 pp. 280, 294

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Al-Mustadrak 'Ala al-Sahihayn Lil-Hakim, vol. 4, p. 5, Hadith 4463

truthfulness of the noble Messenger حَتَّى الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَسَلَّم became even more firm.<sup>1</sup> Upon the Prophet حَتَّى الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَسَلَّم announcing the journey of the Mi'rāj, some people ran to Sayyidunā Abū Bakr al-Ṣiddīq مَحْيَى الله عَنَهُ and said, "Do you testify to what your friend has said that he went from al-Masjid al-Ḥarām to al-Masjid al-Aqṣā in the same night?" Perhaps they thought that upon hearing this matter, which was beyond comprehension and understanding for them, Sayyidunā Abū Bakr al-Ṣiddīq مَحْيَى الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَسَلَّمَ عَلَيَهُ and sidā vai and said the Prophet مَعَادَ اللهُ عَلَيُو عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهُ عَنْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ and

However, may we be sacrificed for the rank of affirmation of Sayyidunā Abū Bakr al-Ṣiddīq رضي الله عنه that when he heard this amazing event that the blind followers of so-called reason were not prepared to accept in any way, then without any hesitation or faltering, he immediately affirmed the beloved Prophet صَلَى الله عَلَيه وَاله وَسَلَى .

It is narrated that upon hearing this event from the people, he asked, "Did the Prophet عَلَى الله عَلَيُو وَاله وَمَلَى "Yes." Upon this, he said, مَدَقَالَ ذَالِكَ تَقَدُ صَدَقَ ("If he said that, then undoubtedly he has spoken the truth." The people then asked, "Do you also testify that he went to Bayt Al-Muqaddas in the night and came back before dawn?" He replied,

### نَعَمُ إِنِّي لَأُصَدِّقُهُ فِيْجَاهُوَ ٱبْعَدُ مِنْ ذَٰلِكَ أُصَدِّقُهُ بِخَبْرِ السَّبَاءِ فِي غُدُوةٍ أَوْ رَوْحَةٍ

"Yes! I also testify to that which is even more amazing than that. I testify to his receiving the news of the heavens in the morning or the evening."<sup>2</sup>

On this day, the noble Messenger حَمَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم said, O Abū Bakr! Verily, Allah Almighty has named يَا آبَا بَكُم إِنَّ اللهُ قَدْ سَمَّاكَ الصِّدِيْقَ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Al-Sirah Al-Nubuwwah Wal-Athar Al-Muhammadiyah, vol. 1, p. 281

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Mustadrak 'Ala Sahiheen Lil-Hakim, vol. 4, p. 5, Hadith 4515

you al-Ṣiddīq."<sup>1</sup> It is mentioned in the narrations that after this, he معنى الله عنه became famous as al-Ṣiddīq.<sup>2</sup>

#### Some Priceless Madani Pearls From the Event of Mi'rāj

Allah Almighty granted the beloved, chosen Prophet حَمَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم so many miracles that enumerating them is not possible. Allah Almighty gathered all the miracles individually bestowed upon all the previous Prophets عَلَيْهِوْ السَّلَام and many more beyond those in the exalted personality of the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِوَ الله وَسَلَّم the lofty status of the Prophet صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِوَ اللهُ وَسَلَّم

Diyay mu'jizay Ambiya ko Khuda nay Hamara Nabi Mu'jiza ban kay aya

Allah gave Prophets many a miracle Our Prophet came as a miracle

From amongst these countless miracles of the beloved, chosen Prophet مَتَلَ الله عَلَيو دَاله وَتِنَام. a very famous miracle and the most unique of events is the noble Mi'rāj. This is such a miracle that itself includes many other miracles. For example, the opening of the blessed chest of the Prophet مَتَلَ الله عَلَيو دَاله وَتَنَام. and removal of his blessed heart without him coming to any harm, whilst witnessing the whole event in a wakeful state, traveling faster than light on the Burāq, and so on are events that occurred within the Mi'rāj that are miracles in and of themselves.

In any case, the journey of Mi'rāj is that grand miracle of the noble, beloved Prophet حَمَّلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم. for which no likeness is found in history. From this miracle, the elevated rank and the closeness of the Prophet حَمَّلَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم in the court of Allah Almighty becomes clear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Al-Mustadrak 'Ala Sahiheen Lil-Hakim, vol. 4, p. 5, Hadith 4515

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Khasa`is Al-Kubra, vol. 1 p. 294

and evident. Let us take note of some sparkling Madani pearls gleaned from the Prophet's عَلَى اللهُ عَلَيَهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّمُ Mi'rāj.

- On the journey between al-Makkah al-Mukarramah دَاوَمَا الله شَرَقَا وَ تَعْطِيْهَا and Bayt al-Muqaddas, Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيُه الله شَرَقَا وَ مَعْلَى الله مَرَقَا وَ مَعْلَى الله مَرَقَا وَ مَعْلَى الله مَرَقَا وَ مَعْلَى الله مَرَقَا وَ offer prayer at three locations which he did.
- In the pure land of al-Madinah al-Munawwarah داده متردًا وَ تَعْطِيعًا towards which the Muslims would undertake the Hijrah.
- Mount Sinai where Allah Almighty honoured Prophet Mūsā عتيوالمتلام with direct speech.
- 3. Bayt Lahm where Prophet 'Īsā عَلَيُوالسَّلاَم was born.

From this, it becomes known that these places are very important and why would they not be when they are connected to noble, high-ranking Prophets عليها السّلاء؟

The famous exegete, Ḥakīm al-Ummah, Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Naʿīmī محمدُ اللوعليه states, "Whichever thing becomes associated with the righteous becomes revered."

Furthermore, proof for taking blessings from the righteous is found in this event. Thus, it is recorded in Ḥāshiyah al-Sindī that this blessed action of the holy Prophet حتى الله علتيه والله وسلّم is a great proof for seeking out the relics of the righteous, taking blessings from them, and worshipping Allah Almighty in proximity to them.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Nūr Al-<sup>r</sup>Irfān, part 2, Surah Al-Baqarah, Under the verse 158, p. 733

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ḥāshiyah Al-Sindī 'Ala Al-Nasa `i, vol. 1, p, 241, Under the verse 449

The Prophet متلي والله وتسلّم also witnessed Prophet Mūsā متلي والله وتسلّم offering prayer in his blessed grave. From this, we learn that the Prophets عليهم السلام are alive in their graves. In fulfilment of the Divine promise,

## كُلُّ نَفْسِ ذَآبِ<u></u>ِقَةُ الْمَوْتِ

Every life is to taste death,<sup>1</sup>

they pass away for a moment, but then they are blessed with a real life in the same way as they were alive before in bodily form. The reviver of Islam, the Imām of Ahl Al-Sunnah, Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān جَمَةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيَهِ

Ambiyaa ko bhi ajal aani hai Magar aysi keh faqat aani hai Phir ussi aan kay ba'd un ki hayaat Misl-e-Saabiq wohi jismaani hai

The Prophets are also visited by death, but in a way that is only momentary Then after that moment, their life is like it was before, bodily

The earth does not devour their bodies. Their lives are more elevated and lofty than the lives of the martyrs. It is for this reason that after their veiling from this world, they leave no inheritance to be divided nor is it permitted for anyone to marry their blessed wives.<sup>3</sup>

It is also apparent from these events that these sacred personalities عَلَيْهِمُ السَلَام travel wherever they please by the permission and bestowal of Allah Almighty and that Allah

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 4, Surah Aal-e-'Imran, Verse 449)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hada`iq-e-Bakhshish, vol. 2, p. 372

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bahar-e-Shari'at, vol. 1; 'Aqa`id Muta'alliqah e nubuwwat, vol. 1, p. 58

Almighty has granted them such expansive authority and power that no other has been conferred in creation.

It is the status of the other Prophets علتيه السلام that they offered prayer behind the leadership of the beloved, chosen Prophet متل الله علتيه واله وسلم in Bayt Al-Muqaddas and then in mere moments, they presented themselves in the skies in order to welcome the Prophet متل الله علتيه واله وسلم there. What then is the status of the glory, rank and power of the leader of the Prophets, the beloved of Allah ? ?

It becomes known from this that the presentation of the Burāq in the court of the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم, and his mounting it, traveling to Bayt Al-Muqaddas, and traversing the skies upon it was purely for honouring, ennobling, and making apparent his lofty status. It cannot be said at all that the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم was in need of Burāq for this journey. It is not possible that the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم be in need of any of creation in any matter whatsoever. The Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم of Allah Almighty. Whoever received anything received it through the intermediation of the Prophet حَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم

> La wa Rabbil 'arsh jis ko jo mila un say mila Bat-ti hai kawnain mayn ni'mat Rasulullah ki Wo Hell mayn gaya jo un say mustaghni huwa Hai Khalīlullah ko haajat Rasulullah Ki

Oath by Allah! Whoever attained something attained it through him Distributed in both worlds are the blessings of the Messenger of Allah

Destined for Hell is he who considers himself independent of him Even Khalīlullah is in need of the Messenger of Allah

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hada`iq-e-Bakhshish, vol. 2, p. 372

All are in need of the blessed Prophet حَلَّى الله عليه وَاله وَسَلَّم and the blessed Prophet حَلَّى الله عليه وَاله وَسَلَّم is in need of no one other than Allah Almighty. In Ṣaḥīḥ Al-Bukhārī, it is narrated that the Prophet إِنَّهَا آنَا قَالِمُ وَاللهُ يُعْطِئ said, حَلَّى الله عليه وَالله وَسَلَّم Indeed I am the distributor and Allah Almighty is the Bestower."

Hakīm Al-Ummah, 'Allāmah Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'īmī مَحْمَّةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ مَتَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالْهِ وَسَلَّم states, "The illuminated Prophet's صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالْهِ وَسَلَّم riding upon the Burāq was to express his grandeur like a groom rides upon a horse whilst those accompanying the wedding procession walk and the horse treads gracefully, slowly. So even this pace of Burāq was slow, otherwise the speed of the Prophet صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالْهِ وَسَلَّم himself would have been faster than the Burāq on that day.

Consider! The Prophets عَلَيْهِمْ السَّلَام offered prayer behind the leadership of the beloved, chosen Prophet صَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم in Bayt Al-Muqaddas and bade him farewell. However, they arrived in the skies first in order to welcome the Prophet صَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم there, because they were to fulfil their duties and the Prophet صَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم was like the groom on this day. Such is the travel speed of a Prophet.<sup>2</sup>

It also becomes apparent from the event of Mi'rāj that the Beloved Prophet حتل الله عليه واله وسلم has such acceptance with Allah Almighty that he can present himself in the court of Allah Almighty repeatedly. Thus, we find on hearing the plea of Prophet Mūsā عليه المشاكد to request the lightening of the number of prayers, the Prophet and forth between the court of Allah Almighty and the Prophet Mūsā.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 71

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mir`aat Al-Manajih, vol. 8, p. 137

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Al-Marji' Al-Sabiq, p. 145, Derived from

From this, we also learn the importance of prayer as Allah Almighty raised His beloved Prophet مَن الله عليه واله وسترالم above the seven skies, in fact beyond the 'arsh to Lā Makān, for the bestowal of the daily prayers.

#### Ulul 'Azm Prophets (The Prophets of mighty resolve)

There are differing ranks amongst the Prophets علَيْهِوْ السَّلَام. Some are superior to others. The most superior is our master, the leader of the Messengers مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم After the Final Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم, the highest rank belongs to Prophet Ibrāhīm عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام. then Prophet Mūsā ، علَيْهِ السَّلَام. and then Prophet Nūḥ عَلَيْهِ السَّلَام. These are known as the Prophets of mighty resolve.<sup>1</sup>

#### The virtue of Ummah Muhammadiyyah

Like the Prophet حَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهِ وَسَلَّمَ is the leader of all the Messengers and the most superior, without resemblance, through the Prophet's صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَهِ وَسَلَّم grace, his Ummah is the most superior of all other nations.<sup>2</sup>

#### The Mention of Mi'rāj in the Quran

Allah Almighty has mentioned the Mi<sup>r</sup>rāj at 3 places in the Quran:<sup>3</sup>

#### **The First Place**

In Surah Bani Israel, Allah Almighty states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bahar-e-Shari'at, vol. 1, p. 52

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Marji' Al-Sabiq, p. 54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Maqalat-e-Kazmi, vol. 1, p. 174

# سُبُحٰنَ الَّذِيِّ آسُرىبِعَبْدِهِ لَيُلَامِّنَ الْمَسْجِدِالُحَرَامِ إِلَى الْمَسْجِدِالُاَقْصَا الَّذِي لِرَكُنَا حَوْلَهُ لِنُرِيَةُ مِنْ اليَتِنَا لَانَّهُ هُوَ السَّمِيُحُ الْبَصِيُرُ ۞

Glory be to Him Who took His bondsman by the night from the Sacred Mosque (the Ka'bah) to Al-Aqṣā Mosque around which We have placed blessing, in order that We may show him Our great signs. Indeed, He is the All-Hearing, the All-Seeing.<sup>1</sup>

#### Madani Pearls

The noble Quranic exegetes state that when the Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَيَسَلَم attained ranks of great loftiness and elevation on the night of Mi'rāj, Allah Almighty said to him, "O Muhammad (مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم Why have I bestowed upon you this virtue and honour?" The Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم replied, "Because You attributed me to Yourself with the description of servitude." Upon this, the aforementioned verse was revealed.<sup>2</sup>

In this verse, the terrestrial journey (from al-Masjid al-Ḥarām to Bayt al-Muqaddas) is mentioned. A few Madani pearls can be gleaned from this:

#### شبُحٰنَ The Wisdom of Starting the Verse with the Word

Allah Almighty stating للمنهن الذيق at the beginning of this verse declared His transcendence. This phrase is mentioned at an incident of astonishment. The scholars of Islam say that because the event of the Mi<sup>r</sup>rāj was a most astounding occurrence and beyond human comprehension, then for this reason, Allah Almighty stated نُمُنْنَ الذَيقَ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, Verse 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Khaza`in Al-'Irfan, part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, Under the verse 1, p. 525

this took place according to the Will of the One who is omnipotent in all ways and free from incapacity.

Even though the travelling of the pure body of the Prophet صَلَى الله عليه وَالله وَسَلَّم upwards, passing through the intensities of the cold and heat of the globe, entering the skies, traversing Paradise and witnessing hell, and then returning so quickly appears very formidable, nothing is difficult for Allah Almighty.<sup>1</sup>

#### **Remedy for Avoiding Sins**

The renowned exegete, Ḥakīm al-Ummah, Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'īmī مَحْمَّةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ states, "Whosoever recites this glorification of Allah Almighty as a litany, i.e. يَا سَبْخُلُ، يَا سَبْخُلُ، عالَى الله الله from sin. The manifestation of each name of Allah Almighty occurs upon its reciter. So, whoever recites the litany of يا عَلَيْ عَلَى اللهُ عالى اللهُ عالى اللهُ عالى اللهُ الل

#### **Explanation of Allah's Omnipotence**

After mentioning مَنْحَى الَّذِي عَلَى اللَّذِي مَنْوَى مَنْوَى اللَّهُ and explaining His transcendence, Allah عَدْمَعَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمُ mentioned the word مَنْرَى whose meaning is, 'He took him'. Take note that Allah Almighty did not term the Holy Prophet صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمُ as the one who travelled, rather He Almighty termed His pure Self as the One who took.

The scholars of Islam have stated that by using the words أمّرى and أمّر Allah Almighty has answered every objection against the Mi'rāj being physical. It is as though He عَزَوْجَلَ has said, 'O deniers! Beware! You have no right to object to my beloved Prophet's صَلَى الله عَلَيَهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَمَ Mi'rāj. This is because he has not claimed that he went on the Mi'rāj and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Shan-e-Habib Al-Rahman, p. 112

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Nūr Al-<sup>C</sup>Irfān, Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, under the Verse 1, p. 339

travelled to al-Masjid al-Aqṣā or the heavens by himself. In such circumstances, what right do you have to object to him? I am the One stating that I took My beloved Prophet عَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله عَلَيْهِ وَالله. Now if you have an objection against My taking him, in that you think taking him and showing him the skies and returning him is not possible, then remember that I am مَدْ (free from every incapacity and weakness). If that which is habitually impossible for creation is also impossible for Me, then I would be incapable and weak, and incapacity and weakness are defects, and I am free from every flaw.'1

#### The Proof for Mi'rāj Being Physical

It is also apparent from this verse that the Mi'rāj of the Prophet مَتَلَ الله عَلَيَّو دَالهِ وَسَلَم was not just spiritual, rather it was with body and soul together. Thus The reviver of Islam, the Imām of Ahl Al-Sunnah, Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān مَتَى الله عليه دلله وعليه and Khān متَلَ الله عليه داله ومتر absolutely, definitely happened with the blessed body of the Prophet متل الله عليه داله وسلّم bestowal of Allah Almighty on chosen followers of the Prophet متل الله عليه داله جنسلم. Allah Almighty states:

## سُبْحٰنَ الَّذِي ٓ ٱسُّرٰى بِعَبْدِه

Glory be to Him Who took His bondsman by the night.<sup>2</sup>

He عَزَدَجَلَ did not say, 'took the soul of His slave'.<sup>3</sup>

**Note:** It should be remembered that the noble Mi<sup>c</sup>rāj took place in a wakeful state with both body and soul. This the belief of the majority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Maqalat-e-Kazimi, vol. 1, p. 124

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, Verse 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Fatawa Razawiyyah, vol. 15, p. 74

of the people of Islam and many groups of the Sahabah رميني الله عندم , and the leading companions of the Prophet متكّى الله عنتيمة المه تقديمة held this belief.<sup>1</sup>

#### **The Second Place:**

At a second place, in Surah Bani Israel, it is mentioned:

## وَمَاجَعَلْنَا الرُّءْيَا الَّتِيَ آرَيْنِكَ إِلَّه فِتْنَةً لِّلنَّاسِ

'And We did not grant the vision (i.e. the wonders of Allah's signs) which We showed you (on the night of Mi'raaj) except to test people,<sup>2</sup>

On the morning of the blessed Mi'rāj, when the beloved Prophet مَتْلَ اللهُ عَلَيَّو دَالِهِ مِتَلَم informed the people of these events, some of those that had previously believed apostatised. In this verse is mention of putting those people to test.<sup>3</sup> It is also learnt from this verse that the Mi'rāj was not only spiritual, rather it was with body and soul together, because if it had been only spiritual, then no one would have objected.

#### **The Third Place:**

In Surah al-Najm is the following passage from the blessed speech of Allah Almighty:

وَالنَّجُمِ اِذَا هَوى ﴾ مَا ضَلَّ صَاحِبُ كُمْ وَمَا غَوى ﴾ وَمَا يَنْطِقُ عَنِ الْهَوى ﴾ إنْ هُوَ الَّذ وَحْى يُوْحى ﴾ عَلَّمَهُ شَدِيْدُ الْقُوى ﴾ دُوُ مِرَّةٍ فَاسْتَوى ﴾ وَهُوَ بِالْافُقِ الْاَعْلى \* تُمَّرَدَنَافَتَدَلَى \* فَكَانَ قَابَقَوْسَيْنِ اَوْادُنى \* فَاوَحى إلى عَبْدِهِ مَا اَوْحى \* مَا كَذَبَ الْفُؤَادُ مَا رَاى ٢ اَفَتُمْوُوْنَهُ عَلَى مَا يَرَى ٢ وَلَقَدُ رَاهُ نَزْلَةً أُخْرى \* عِنْدَ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Khaza`in Al-'Irfan, Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, under the verse 1, p. 525

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, Verse 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Tafsir al-Qurtubi, Surah Al-Isra, under the verse 20, vol. 5, p. 175

# سِدُدَةِ الْمُنْتَلَى ٢ عِنْدَهَا جَنَّةُ الْمَأْوٰى ٢ اللَّهُ يَعْشَى السِّدُدَةَ مَا يَعْشَى الْ مَا ذَاخَالْبَصَرُ وَمَاطَلَى ٢ لَقَدُدَاٰى مِنُ اليَّ دَبِّهِ الْصُبُوٰى

By the oath of that beloved shining star Muhammad, when he descended from Mi'raaj (i.e. the Ascension). Your companion (i.e. the Beloved Prophet Muhammad) has not strayed, nor was he misled. And he does not say anything of his own desire. It is not but revelation which is sent down upon him. The One Who is extremely Mighty, the Powerful has taught him. Then that Manifestation intended. And he (i.e. the Beloved Prophet Muhammad) was on the horizon of the uppermost heaven. Then that Manifestation came closer, and then He became increasingly closer (towards His Beloved). So, the distance remaining between that Manifestation and this Beloved was only of two arm lengths; rather, even less. Now He revealed to His bondsman whatever He revealed. The heart (of the Prophet Muhammad) did not lie regarding what he saw.So, do you dispute with him regarding what he saw (on the night of Mi'raaj)? And he did see that Manifestation two times. Near the Lote Tree of the furthest boundary. Close to which is Paradise Al-Ma'wa. When the Lote Tree was being enveloped with whatever was covering it (i.e. a supreme decoration of marvellous lights and angels). The eyes (of the Beloved Prophet) did not turn aside nor exceed the limit. Indeed, he saw the greatest signs of his Lord.1

There are many opinions of the exegetes regarding the meaning of the word مَرْبَعُ in these verses. Some have taken the meaning of stars, others have the opinion that it refers to a specific group of stars, (the Pleiades) and some have taken the opinion that it means the Quran. The preponderant view is that it refers to the noble personage of the Prophet Muhammad مَرْدَا الله عليه والهورسلّم, as it is clear from the translation of The reviver of Islam, the Imām of Ahl al-Sunnah, Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān مَرْجَعُ اللهُ عليه والهورسلّم is indicated to in these verses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 27, Surah Al-Najm, Verses 1-18)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tafsir Khaza `in Al-'Irfan, Part 27, Surah Al-Najm, under the verse 1, p. 969

# Beneficial Points Concerning the

#### Denial of the Mi'rāj

Sadr al-Afadil, Muftī Muhammad Na'im al-Din Murādābādī مَعْدَاللَهُ عَلَيْهُ states, "The Mi'rāj took place on the night of 27<sup>th</sup> Rajab. The journey of the illuminated Prophet مَعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ وَمَالَمُ from Makkah al-Mukarramah to Bayt al-Muqaddas in a short period of the night is established from Quranic text. The one who denies this is a disbeliever.

The celestial journey through the skies and arrival at the stations of close proximity is established from authentic hadith that are mashhūr (famous), which are near the level of mutawatir (mass transmission).<sup>1</sup> The one who denies this is misguided. The denier of 'Uruj or I'raj, i.e the Prophet متل الله عليه والله وعداله Allah Almighty with the blessed eyes of his blessed head and going beyond the 'arsh, is mistaken."<sup>2</sup>

#### The Wisdoms of the Noble Mi'rāj

Dear Islamic brothers! No action of Allah Almighty is devoid of wisdom. Every action of His contains countless wisdoms, even if our intellects fall short of understanding them. No doubt, there are countless wisdoms in Allah Almighty taking His beloved Prophet

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>*Khaza`in Al-'Irfan, Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, under the verse 1, p. 525* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Kufriya kalimat kay baray mayn suwal jawab, p. 227

صَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم on Mi'rāj. Here, four wisdoms are mentioned. The famous exegete, Ḥakīm al-Ummah, Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'īmī مَحْمَةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ mentions:

- 1. All the miracles and all the ranks that the Prophets عَلَيْهِمْ السَّلَا، were bestowed with individually, all of them and more than them have been conferred upon the Prophet صَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّ . There are many examples of this. Sayyidunā Mūsā مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّ was given such a rank that when he went to Mount Sinai, he spoke with Allah Almighty, Sayyidunā 'Īsā عَلَيْهِ السَّلَا، was called to the fourth sky, and Sayyidunā Idrīs عَلَيْهِ السَّلَاء قَلْهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّ and say paradise. So, the Prophet صَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّ and saw Paradise and witnessed hell. The upshot is that all of these virtues were received in this one journey of Mi'rāj.
- 3. Allah Almighty states:

ٳڽۜٞٳٮٚٞڶٵۺؙؾٙڒۑڡؚڹؘٳڵؠؙٷ۫ڡؚڹؚڽ۫ڹؘٱڹ۫ڡؙؙۺۿؙؠؙۅؘٲؠؙۅؘٳڶۿؙڔۑؚٲڹۜٛڶۿؙؠٵڿۘڹٞڐٙ

# Indeed, Allah has purchased from the Muslims their wealth and lives in this exchange; that, for them is Paradise.<sup>1</sup>

Allah is the One who purchases the wealth and selves of the believers. The believers are the ones who sell their wealth and selves. This transaction happened through the Prophet حَلَّ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَالَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَ

4. The Prophet حَتَى الله عَتَيَهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم is the owner of the kingdom of Allah Almighty, through the bestowal of Allah Almighty. That is why it is written on every leaf of Paradise, on the eyes of the maidens of Paradise and in every place in Paradise: تَرَالْدَارُدُاللهُ مُحَتَّى الرَّسُوْلُ اللهِ. "There is none worthy of worship except Allah Almighty and Muhammad is the Messenger of Allah Almighty." The meaning is that all things have been created by Allah Almighty and conferred upon the Prophet Muhammad, the Messenger of Allah.

Mayn to Mālik hi kahoon ga kay ho Mālik kay Habeeb Ya'ni Mahboob-o-Muhib mayn nahin mayra tayra.

I will indeed call you the owner, for you are the Owner's beloved There is no 'mine and yours' between the One who loves and His beloved

It was the Divine Will that He would show our master his dominion.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 11, Surah Al-Tawbah, verse 111)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hada`iq-e-Bakhshish, vol. 1, p, 16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Shan-e-Habeeb Al-Rahman, p. 106

#### How Many Times Did Mi'rāj Occur?

In a state of wakefulness, with body and soul, the Mi'rāj only occurred once. Spiritually, it happened many times. 'Allāmah Aḥmad ibn Muhammad Qasṭalānī مَحَدَّ اللَّهِ عَلَيَهِ reports that some of the awliya` have said that the Prophet مَتَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهِ وَسَلَّمَ experienced Mi'rāj 34 times. Of these, one was with body and soul and the remainder were with the soul in the form of dreams.<sup>1</sup>

#### Did the Previous Prophets علتيوة الستكره Also Experience Mi'rāj?

The Mi'rāj in the form experienced by our beloved Prophet مَنْ الله عَلَيَهِ دَالهِ دَسَلَهِ with all the distinguished qualities and ranks endowed upon the Prophet مَنْ الله عَلَيَهِ دَالهِ وَسَلَم observed the Prophet granted a Mi'rāj like this. Some scholars have said that all the Prophets عَلَيْهِوُ المَالَة مَلَي were granted a Mi'rāj according to their rank and status. Thus, it is mentioned in the Quran regarding Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm Khalīlullah عَلَيُوالسَالَة.

## وَكَذٰلِكَ نُوِى ٓ ابْرَهِيْمَ مَلَكُوْتَ الشَّلوٰتِ وَالْاَرْضِ وَلِيَكُوْنَ مِنَ الْمُوْقِنِيْنَ ٢

And We show Ibrāhīm the entire kingdom of the heavens and the earth in a like manner, and so that he becomes of those who believe with certainty of sight.<sup>2</sup>

In this verse, the Mi<sup>r</sup>rāj of Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm Khalīlullah عَلَيَهِ السَلاَم. is mentioned.<sup>3</sup> The noble Quranic exegetes have said that Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm عَلَيَهِ السَلاَم was stood on a rock and the skies were unveiled for him such that he witnessed the *'arsh, kursī*, all the wonders of the skies, and his place in Paradise. The earth was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Al-Mawahib al-Ladunniyyah, vol. 2, p. 341

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 7, Surah Al-An'am, verse 75)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Khaza`in Al-'Irfan, Part 7, Surah An'am, under the verse 75, p. 262

unveiled for him until he saw the lowest earth and he witnessed all the wonders of the earths.<sup>1</sup>

#### Did the Previous Prophets عليوه السّلام Travel on Burāq?

Although the previous Prophets عَلَيْهِوُ السَّلَامِ did travel on the Burāq (as has been narrated about Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm Khalīlullah عَلَيْهِ السَّلَامِ that he would travel on Burāq to meet his son Sayyidunā Ismā'īl (عَلَيْهِ السَّلَامَ، <sup>2</sup> there are facets to this which are unique to the Prophet صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِوَ الهُوسَلَّمَ.

Allāmah Nūr al-Din Ibrāhīm al-Ḥalabī مَحْمَةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ مَعْمَةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ مَعْمَةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ مَعْمَةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ مَعْمَةُ مَعْمَةُ مَعْمَةُ مَعْمَةُ مَعْمَةُ مَعْمَةُ مُعْمَةُ مُعْمَةُ مُعْمَةُ مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْتَعَمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَعْتُمُومُ مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَعْنُهُ مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَعُمُونُهُ مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةًا مُعْمُ مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةً مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَعُ مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَعُ مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَة مُعْمَة مُعْمَة مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَعُ مُعْمَة مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَة مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَة مُعْمَةًا مُعْمَة مُعْمُ مُع

According to one narration, only the Prophet حَلَى اللهُ عَلَيُو الهِ وَسَلَّمُ will mount the Burāq at the time of the 'Hashr. Thus, it is narrated that the Prophet مَتَى اللهُ عَلَيُو الهِ وَسَلَّمُ once stated, "The she-camel of Thamūd<sup>3</sup> will be resurrected for Prophet Ṣāliḥ عَلَيُو السَّلَامُ اللهُ عَلَيُو اللهُ وَتَعَلَّمُ and he will ride it from his grave to the plane of 'Hashr. Upon this, Sayyidunā Mu'adh ibn Jabal مَتَى مَوْى اللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمُ asked, "O Messenger of Allah مَتَى وَاللهُ وَسَلَّمُ will you be mounted on your blessed camel?" The Prophet صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمُ replied, "No, my daughter will be mounted on that and I will arrive on Burāq, because on that day, it will be specifically bestowed upon me from all the noble Prophets ."4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kitab Al-Mi<sup>c</sup> rāj, p. 74

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Fath al-Bārī, Kitab Manaqib Al-Ansar, vol. 7, p. 259, under the hadith: 3887

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The she-camel of Thamud is the camel that came out miraculously from the rock upon the supplication of Sayyidunā *Ṣāliḥ المياليا*. The nation of *Thamūd* were warned against harming this she-camel but they were rebellious and they hamstrung it, and so Allah Almighty sent punishment upon them. *Khaza`in Al-Irfan, Part 8, Surah Al-An'am, under the verse 73, p. 302* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Fatawa Razawiyyah, vol. 30, p. 214

# The Distance Between the Earth and the Lote Tree of the Farthest Limit

The reviver of Islam, the Imām of Ahl al-Sunnah, Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān الله عليه has stated, "The distance between the earth and the Lote Tree of the farthest boundary is 50,000 years of travel. Beyond this is the Mustawā and Allah Almighty knows what is beyond that. Beyond it are 70,000 veils of the '*arsh* and between every two veils is the distance of 500 years, and beyond them is the '*arsh* and all of these distances are filled with Angels.<sup>1</sup>

#### The Beatific Vision of Allah Almighty

Dear Islamic brothers! On the night of Mi'rāj, our beloved Prophet صَلَى الله عَلَيه وَالله وَسَلَم saw Allah Almighty as has already passed in mention. It should be remembered that seeing Allah Almighty in this world with one's physical eyes in a wakeful state is specific to the Final Prophet صَلَى اللهُ عَلَيه وَالله وَسَلَم

Thus, in the distinguished book "Kufriyah Kalimat Ke Baare Mein Suwal Jawaab", the erudite spiritual guide, Ameer of Ahl al-Sunnah, Allamah Abū Bilāl Muhammad Ilyas 'Attar Qadiri دَاعَتُ بَرَكَاتُهُمُ العَالِيَة states, "Beholding Allah Almighty with one's physical eyes in this world in a wakeful state is a unique quality of our beloved Prophet مَنَّ الله عَلَيودَاله دِمَلَهُ . If any person claims that he saw Allah Almighty with his physical eyes in this world in a wakeful state, the ruling of kufr applies to this, and there is an opinion of misguidance concerning such a claim also.

Thus, 'Allāmah Mulla 'Ali al-Qārī منته الله عليه mentions in Minah al-Rawd, "If someone said, 'I see Allah Almighty in this world with my

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Malfuzat-e-A'la Hazrat, p. 439

eyes', this statement of his is kufr." He further writes, "Whoever claimed the vision of Allah Almighty for himself and made this claim in clear wording, leaving no possibility of an interpretation, then this belief of his is corrupt, and his claim is false, and he has fallen into the pit of misguidance and misguides other."<sup>1</sup>

However, to behold Allah Almighty in the dream state is possible. Thus, it is narrated about al-Imām al-A<sup>r</sup>zam, the shining lamp of this Ummah, Sayyidunā Imām Abū Ḥanīfa منى الله عنه that he was blessed with the vision of Allah Almighty 100 times in the dream state.<sup>2</sup>

#### The Scenes of the Night of Mi'rāj

On the night of Mi'rāj, during his journey, our beloved Prophet متلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم witnessed thousands of wonders of creation. Entering into Paradise, he صَلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم saw the palaces of his followers and witnessed hell and the painful punishments meted out to its dwellers. The Prophet صَلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم mentioned many of these scenes to encourage and dissuade his Ummah respectively, so that people carry out good deeds as a means of avoiding hell and they strive for them upon hearing about the everlasting bounties of Paradise. Let us learn about some of these scenes and events.

## **Concerning the Divine Bestowals**

#### What was written upon the door of Paradise?

It is narrated from Sayyidunā Anas ibn Mālik مَعْنَ اللَّهُ عَلَهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَ Mi'rāj, I saw written upon the door of Paradise, 'Sadaqah is rewarded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kufriyah kalimat kay baray mayn suwal jawab, p. 228

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Khairat Al-Hisan, p. 95

ten-fold and a loan eighteen-fold.' I asked Sayyidunā Jibril عليه السّلام. 'What is the reason that the rank of a loan is greater than sadaqah?' He replied, 'Because the one who asks already has some wealth with him but he still asks, whereas the one who takes a loan takes it upon a need.'"<sup>1</sup>

Dear Islamic brothers! The religion of Islam teaches us to care about Muslims. It teaches us to have compassion for one another and turns our attention to this matter that if a Muslim is in any difficulty or facing anxiety, then rather than turning our faces away from him, we should help to extricate him from his worry. If someone is facing financial difficulties, than we should offer him a monetary gift or a qard hasanah to help him out.

Islam has also given many glad tidings of manifold rewards for these good deeds so that Muslims are encouraged towards them, and placing the reward of the afterlife before them, they aid their Muslim brother in every sadness.

However, alas! In this age, the mindset of caring for one another has started to fade completely. People have become intoxicated in the love of wealth to such an extent that the desire to assist one another is dying inside them. Alas! If only we became truly observant of the teachings of Islam and considering every Muslim's difficulty as our own, we tried to alleviate it.

It is narrated from Sayyidunā Abū Hūrairah من الله عنه that the noble Messenger من الله عنه stated, "Whoever removed a worldly difficulty from a Muslim, then Allah Almighty will remove one difficulty from the difficulties of the day of Judgement from him. Whoever brings about ease for someone in poverty, then Allah Almighty will bless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sunan Ibn Mājah: 2431

him in the world and the next. Whoever veils the fault of a Muslim in this world, Allah Almighty will veil him in this world and the next. Allah Almighty helps a person as long as a person remains in the assistance of his brother."<sup>1</sup>

#### **Domed Encampments Made of Pearl**

The Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيّهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم observed domed encampments of pearl in Paradise whose soil was of musk. The Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيّهِ والله وَسَلَّم asked Sayyidunā Jibril مَعْلَيّهِ السَّلاَم ("Who are these for, O Jibril?" Sayyidunā Jibril إصَلَ الله عَلَيّهِ والله وَسَلَّم These are for the Imāms and Muezzins of your Ummah."<sup>2</sup>

Glory be to Allah Almighty! There is such great virtue in leading prayer and announcing the azan that Allah Almighty has prepared for those who do these blessed actions domed encampments made of pearl. May Allah Almighty grant us the ability to do these actions also. Take note of some more narrations in this regard.

- The Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم said, "The one who calls the azan seeking reward is like the martyr who is covered in blood, and when he passes away, insects will not come upon his shroud."<sup>3</sup>
- The Prophet حَلَّى اللَّه عَلَيْهِ وَالْهِ وَسَلَّم stated, "The one who called the azan for the five prayers with faith and with the intention of reward, his previous sins will be forgiven, and whoever led his companions in the five prayers with faith and with the intention of reward, his previous sins will be forgiven."4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jāmi' al-Tirmidhī: 1930

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Musnad Lil-Shashi, vol. 3, p. 1428

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Al-Targhīb wal-Tarhīb: 24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Kanz al-<sup>c</sup>Ummāl: 20902

#### Lofty palaces

It is narrated that the Prophet مَنَى الله عليه واله وسَلَّم saw lofty palaces in Paradise. When he asked Sayyidunā Jibril عليه المنابع about them, he was informed that they are for those that swallow their anger, and pardon, and overlook people, and Allah Almighty loves those who do good.<sup>1</sup>

Anger is an involuntary thing. Anger is that emotion of the lower self that arises at the instance of taking revenge and due to it, the fire of retribution is kindled in the heart. There are many virtues concerning the one who controls himself in such a state and takes to pardoning and overlooking, one of which has just been mentioned.

Furthermore, the Prophet سَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيُو وَاللهِ وَسَلَّ stated, "Whosoever controlled his anger, whereas he was capable of acting upon it, then on the Day of Judgement, Allah Almighty will call him before all of creation and give him the choice of taking whichever hūr (maiden of paradise) he wishes."<sup>2</sup>

At another place, the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم mentioned, "The best people of my Ummah are those that when anger comes to them, they immediately control themselves."<sup>3</sup>

#### If anger never comes...?

Remember! Anger in and of itself is not bad. To come into a state of anger and go against the Shari'ah is blameworthy and impermissible. However, to become angry at the correct time is also necessary.

Imām Aḥmad ibn Ḥajar al-Makkī جمة الله عليه states, "Falling short in anger, i.e. for it to be so little that it completely diminishes or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Musnad al-Firdaus: 3188

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sunan Abī Dāwūd: 4777

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Al-Mu<sup>c</sup> jam al-Awsaț lil-Țabarānī: 5793

becomes weak is a blameworthy characteristic, because in this state, a person's chivalry and sense of honour ceases. A person in whom the sense of honour ceases is not worthy of any form of perfection because he resembles women, rather he resembles insects."

Sayyidunā Imām Shāfi'ī مَتَحَقُّاللُوعَلَيَه states, "Whoever is provoked and he does not feel a state of anger, then he is a donkey, and whoever someone pleases and he does not become pleased is a devil."

#### The Status of al-Ṣiddīq al-Akbar موالله منه الله منه

On the blessed night of Mi'rāj, when the beloved Prophet حَمَّلَ اللهُ عَلَيُووَالهِوَسَلَم entered Paradise, he saw a palace adorned with veils of silk. He asked Sayyidunā Jibril معلَيُوالسَّلام, "O Jibril! Who is this for?" He replied, "It is for Sayyidunā Abū Bakr al-Ṣiddīq رَحْوَى اللَهُ عَنْهُ عَالِيُ

He attained a rank of *fana* ' *fi al-Rasul* (being completely immersed in the Prophet حَمَّلَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّمَ b such that he sacrificed his life, wealth, children, land, and everything else for the Beloved Prophet حَمَّلَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّم. It is for this reason that in the court of Allah Almighty and the chosen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Al-Zawajir, vol. 1, p. 103

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Riyad Al-Nadirah, vol. 2, p. 110

Prophet حَلَّى اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّمَ , he attained lofty ranks and became deserving of countless Divine bounties.

Bayaan ho kis zabaan say martaba Şiddīq-e-Akbar ka Hai yaar-e-ghaar, Mahboob-e-Khudaa Şiddīq-e-Akbar ka

Rusul aur Ambiyaa kay ba'd jo Afzal ho 'alam say Yeh 'alam mayn hay kis ka martaba, Siddiq-e-Akbar ka

Which words can describe the status of Siddiq-e-Akbar? The Beloved of Allah is the companion in the cave of Siddiq-e-Akbar

Most superior after the Messengers and Prophets in all creation is Siddiq-e-Akbar Whose rank is this in the world? It is the rank of Siddiq-e-Akbar

صَلُّوا عَلَى الْحَبِيْبِ صَلَّى اللهُ عَلى مُحَمَّد

#### تفى الله عنه The Sound of the Footfalls of Sayyidunā Bilāl

During his journey through Paradise, the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيُو وَالله وَسَلَّم heard the sound of someone's footfalls, whereupon he was informed that they were Sayyidunā Bilāl's رَضِي اللهُ عَنَهُ 2

May we be sacrificed for him! What a lofty status Sayyidunā Bilāl al-Habashī مَتْنَ اللهُ عَلَيُو وَالله وَسَلَم has that the Prophet مَتْنَ اللهُ عَلَيُه وَاللهُ عَنه hears the sound of his footfalls in Paradise! Which action was the cause of Sayyidunā Bilāl مَعْنَ اللهُ عَنّه attaining this rank?

It is narrated from Sayyidunā Bilāl من الله عنه that the noble Messenger متلّى الله عليه والله عنه once asked him at Fajr time, "O Bilāl! Inform me of the action that you have done since embracing Islam that you are most

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Zauq-e-Na't, p. 57

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mishkāt al-Maṣābīḥ: 6037

hopeful of reward for, because I heard the sound of your footfalls in Paradise before me." He replied, "According to me, I have not done any such action. However, whenever I have performed ghusl or wudu in the day or night, then I have offered as much prayer as Allah Almighty had decreed for me."<sup>1</sup>

#### **Explanation of the Hadith**

Explaining the above-mentioned hadith, Ḥakīm al-Ummah, Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'īmī مَحْتُ اللَّهِ عَلَيْه states, "In all proBābility, the Prophet عَنَى الله عَلَيه وَالله عَنَه الله عليه والله عليه والله عليه واله وسلام this question in the dream state and he asked Sayyidunā Bilāl محمى الله علنه الله عليه والله وسلام this question in the morning because the Fajr prayer on the morning of the bodily Mi'rāj was not congregational. Or this was all witnessed in the bodily Mi'rāj but the Prophet حَلَى الله عَلَيه وَالله وَسَلَّم asked this question after Fajr prayer on some other day and this explanation is more apparent."

He further states, "Sayyidunā Bilāl's مَعْنَ اللَّهُ عَنهُ going ahead of the Prophet صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ اللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ اللَّهُ عَنهُ مَنْ اللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ (O Bilāl! What action did you do that you were honoured with such a service in my court?' It should be remembered that Sayyidunā Bilāl قالمًا قالمُ عنهُ on the night of the Mi'rāj into Paradise nor did Sayyidunā Bilā اللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ مَنْ اللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ مَنْ اللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ مَا مُعْنُو وَالَهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ عَنهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ عَنهُ عَنهُ عَنهُ عَنهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنهُ وَالل

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim: 2458

A number of matters are learnt from this. One of them is that Allah Almighty has informed the Prophet متلَى الله عليه والله وسلَم of the final destinations of people, which of them will enter Paradise and which will enter hell and what levels they will be in therein. This is from al-'Ulum al-Khamsah (the 5 special types of knowledge).

The second matter is that the blessed ears and eyes of the Prophet مَتَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَم hear and see things that are yet to occur thousands of years in the future. This event would occur so many thousands of years after that date, but how incredible are those blessed ears that they hear the footfalls so many thousands of years before.

Thirdly, however a person spends his life in this world, he will be in a similar state in the afterlife. Sayyidunā Bilāl مون الله عنه spent his life in the service of the Prophet متل الله عليه واله ومناله من الله عنه in this world and he will be in the service of the Prophet متل الله عليه والله عنه in the next world.

Explaining Sayyidunā Bilāl's منهن الله عنه statement, "Whenever I have performed ghusl or wudu, day or night, then I have offered as much prayer as Allah Almighty had decreed for me."

Hakīm al-Ummah, Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'īmī مَحْمُةُ اللَّهِ عَلَيَهِ states, "In other words, 'Whenever I performed wudu or ghusl during the day or night, I offered 2 rak'ats of Tahiyyat al-Wudu prayer." However, the meaning here is offering prayer in the timings which are not disliked so that this hadith does not contradict the hadith forbidding prayer in the disliked times. It should be remembered that the purpose of the Prophet مَنْ اللَهُ عَلَيُهِ وَالَهِ وَسَلَّمُ would give this answer and the Ummah would act upon this. Otherwise, the Prophet مَنْ اللَهُ عَلَيُورَالَهِ وَسَلَّمُ is aware of everyone's open and hidden actions.

Furthermore, the mentioned rank is for the specific nawafil offered by

Sayyidunā Bilāl من الله عنه Thousands of people may offer these rak'ats or be consistent in performing them, but they will not attain this service in the court of the Prophet متلى الله عليه واله وسلّم. 1

صَلُّوا عَلَى الْحَبِيْبِ صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَى مُحَمَّد

#### **Encampments of Rubies and Emeralds**

When the beloved Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم travelled through the beautiful valleys of Paradise, he reached a river called Baydhakh. Upon this were encampments of pearls, green emeralds, and red rubies. A voice called out, السَّلَامُ عَلَيْكَ إِنَّهُ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ ع

The Prophet عليه واله وسلّى الله عليه واله وسلّى, "Whose voice is this?" He replied," These are the veiled  $h\bar{\mu}rs$  (maidens of Paradise) in these encampments. They sought permission from their Lord to greet you and they were permitted to do so." Then those maidens of Paradise began to say, "We remain forever happy, we will never be the cause of displeasure and animosity, and we are those that will abide forever and will never perish."<sup>2</sup>

Muddat say jo armaan tha wo aaj nikaala Hooron nay kiya khoob nazaarah Shab-e-Mi<sup>c</sup>rāj

Their age-old desire was finally fulfilled today On the night of the  $Mi^{\ell}r\bar{a}j$ , upon what a beautiful sight the hūrs did gaze

#### A person hidden in light

On the illuminated night of Mi'rāj, the Prophet متلى الله عليه واله وسلم assed by a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mir`aat Al-Manajih, vol. 2, p. 300

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Al-Durr Al-Manthur, Surah Al-Rahman, Under the verse 72, vol. 14, p. 161

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Qabala`-e-Bakhshish, p. 84

man who had disappeared into the light of the 'arsh. He مَتَى الله عليه واله وتسلّم said: "Who is this? Is this an angel?" It was said to him, "No." He asked, "Is he a Prophet?" Again the answer was, "No." He said, "Who is it then?" The answer was, "This is a man whose tongue was moist with Allah's remembrance in the world, and his heart was attached to the masjid, and he was never a cause of his parents being humiliated."1

Glory be to Allah Almighty. It becomes known from this narration that these three matters; abundance of dhikr of Allah Almighty, love of the masajid and avoidance of being a cause of the humiliation of one's parents are most beloved in the court of Allah Almighty. In this narration is encouragement for a person to avoid swearing, argumentation, fighting, intoxication, gambling etc., and any such action that could be the cause of one's parents being humiliated, embarrassed, or disgraced in this world, and a cause of one's own humiliation on the Day of Judgement.

#### Jihad in the path of Allah Almighty

On the night of Mi'rāj, the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَمَلَ الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَمَلَ الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَمَلَ الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَمَلْ الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَمَلْ الله عَلَيُودَالهِ وَمَلْ الله وَالله مَعْنَا الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله مَعْنَا الله عَلَيْ الله مَعْنَا الله مُعْنَا اللهُ مُعْنَا الله مُعْنَا مُنْ اللهُ مُعْنَا الله مُ

#### In Connection with the Divine Punishment

On the night of Mi'rāj, during his journey, the beloved Prophet

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mawsu'ah Al-Imam Ibn Abi Al-Dunya, vol. 2, p. 415, Hadith 95

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Majma' Al-Zawa`id, vol. 91, Hadith 235

مَنَّى الله عَلَيُودَالِهِ رَسَلَ not only saw the Divine favours of Allah Almighty upon obedient people, he also saw people caught in the punishment of Allah Almighty, suffering painful punishments as a consequence of their sins. From amongst these punishments, some were for the sin of backbiting.

## FOUR PUNISHMENTS FOR BACKBITING

#### **People Devouring their own Flesh**

It is narrated that on the night of Mi'rāj, the Prophet مَتْلَ الله عَلَيّهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيّهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيّهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيّهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّ اللهُ عَلَيّهِ وَاللهِ وَعَلَيْهِ مَلْهُ عَلَيّهِ وَاللهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَعَلَيْهِ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ مَا أَحْدَعُلُولُولُولُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ مَالَيْ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ وَاللهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيْهُ مَ

#### **Carrion Eating Dwellers of the Fire**

One narration mentions that when the Prophet مَنَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم looked into Jahnnam, he saw such people that were eating carrion. The Prophet مَنَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم asked, "Who are these people?" He was told, "These are those that would eat people's flesh (i.e. backbite)."<sup>2</sup>

#### People hanging from their chests

According to another narration, on the night of Mi'rāj, the Prophet صَلَى الله عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَم passed by such men and women that were hanging from their chests. The Prophet صَلَى الله عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَم their chests. The Prophet صَلَى الله عَلَيهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَم

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Musnad Al-Harith, vol. 1, p. 172, Hadith 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Musnad Ahmad: 2366
people?" He replied, "These are the people that would slander people and speak badly about them behind their backs, and Allah Almighty states concerning them:<sup>1</sup>

وَيُلٌ تِكُلِّ هُبَزَةٍ لُّبَزَةِ فَ

#### Destruction is for every open slanderer, backbiter.<sup>2</sup>

#### **Finger nails of copper**

In Sunan Abī Dawūd, it is reported that the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيُو المحترية said, "On the night of Mi<sup>r</sup>rāj, I passed by people who were scratching their own faces with copper nails. I asked, "Who are they, O Jibril?" He replied, "They are the ones who ate the flesh of people and tarnished their reputations."<sup>3</sup>

#### Women Backbite More

Reflect on how destructive the punishment of backbiting is and how painful the punishments are that the backbiters will have to face on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Shuʿab al-Īmān: 675

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 30, Surah Al-Humazah, verse 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Sunan Abī Dawūd: 4878

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mir`aat Al-Manajih, Bāb Chupay 'uyob ki talash, vol. 6, p. 619

the Day of Judgement. Just picturing it is enough to make one shake. Take heed! If having backbitten, we die without having repented and one of these painful punishments is set upon us, how will we be able to endure it? For this reason, after having broken ties through backbiting, tale telling and sinful acts, let us now mend ties through commendation and praise. Stay engrossed in the dhikr of Allah Almighty in every moment and send salat and salam in abundance upon the beloved Prophet صَلَى الله عليه والله وتعليه واله وتعليه.

> Gunahon say mujhko bacha Ya Ilahi Buri 'adatayn bhi cḥūra Ya Ilahi Mujhay gheebat-o-Chughli-o-badgumani Ki afaat say tu bacha Ya Ilahi

Tujhay wasita saray Nabiyon ka Maula Mayri bakhsh day har khata Ya Ilahi

Save me from sins, O my Lord Help me leave bad habits, O my Lord

Save me from the calamities of tale telling and bad opinion, O my Lord I ask you by the intermediation of all the Prophets, O my Lord Forgive my every sin, O my Lord.

صَلُّوا عَلَى الْحَبِيْبِ صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَى مُحَمَّد

#### **Two Punishments for Consuming Usury**

Just like backbiting, consuming interest is also a fatal and extremely destructive illness that terminates the desire to do good to other Muslims in a person's heart. On the night of Mi<sup>c</sup>rāj, from amongst

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wasa `il-e-Bakhshish, p. 79

the people, the Prophet حَلَّى الله علَيهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم saw being subjected to punishment were those who were being punished for consuming usury.

#### **A Person Swallowing Stones**

Sayyidunā Samurah من الله عنه narrates that the noble Messenger من الله عنه said, "On the night of Mi'rāj, I saw a person swimming in a river whilst he was swallowing rocks. I asked, 'Who is this.' I was informed that he was a consumer of usury."

#### **Snakes in the Stomach**

Imām Ibn Mājah reports that Sayyidunā Abū Ḥūrairah موى الله عنه narrates that the beloved Prophet مَلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم said, "On the night of Mi'rāj, I came upon some people who had bellies as large as houses, filled with snakes, which could be seen through their skins. I asked, 'O Jibril, who are they?' He replied, 'They are those who consumed usury.'"<sup>2</sup>

#### **Explanation of the Hadith**

The renowned exegete, Ḥakīm al-Ummah, Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'īmī مجمع الله عليه, explaining this hadith, states, "The consumer of usury is greedy, he consumes a little but has great avarice. For this reason, their stomachs will truly be like houses. The wealth of people that they appropriated oppressively will be as snakes and scorpions. In this world, if a small worm develops in one's stomach, one's well-being deteriorates and a person becomes perturbed. Think then! What will be the state of a person when his stomach is full of snakes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Shuʿab al-Īmān: 9121

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sunan Ibn Mājah: 2273

and scorpions and what will be his state of distress and discomfort? May Allah protect us!<sup>1</sup>

#### Lesson of admonishment

Those people who give and take usury should take a lesson of admonishment from these narrations. Just imagine! If Allah Almighty becomes displeased by this act of disobedience and a person became tormented with these painful punishments for the devourers of usury, with snakes and scorpions filling his stomach, what will he do? At that time, this usurious profit will not avail him at all.

Therefore, an intelligent person should ensure that he never ever makes himself deserving of the terrifying punishment of the grave and the afterlife for the sake of some lowly transient benefit.

#### Punishment of Crushing of the Head

The Quran and hadith are filled with the importance of prayer, the virtues of establishing each prayer punctually in its appointed time, and the intense punishments for falling short in them without a Shar'ī excuse.

On the night of Mi'rāj, our beloved Prophet حَمَّلَ الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَمَّلَ saw people that were caught in punishments due to laziness concerning their prayers. Let us reflect and make a mind-set of becoming punctual in our prayers.

It is mentioned in narrations that the Prophet حَنَّى الله عليّه واله وسَتَّى passed such people whose heads were being crushed by rocks. Each time they would be crushed, they would return to their original states and would be crushed again. They were given no respite in this affair. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mir`aat Al-Manajih, vol. 4, p. 259

Prophet عَلَيُو اللهُ عَلَيُو مَنْ اللهُ عَلَيُو مَنْ اللهُ عَلَيُو رَالَمُ مَنْ اللهُ عَلَيُو رَالَمُ وَمَنْ اللهُ عَلَيُو رَالَمُ وَمَالًا people?" He said, "These are those people whose heads found prayer burdensome."

#### **Scissors of Fire**

On the night of Mi'rāj, the final Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيُووَ الموتسلَّم passed by some other people whose lips were being cut by scissors of fire and would return to normal after each cutting. The Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيُووَ الموتسلَّم asked, "O Jibril! Who are these people?" He replied, "They are the sermon givers of your Ummah. They did not act upon that which they preached and they would recite the Book of Allah Almighty (the Quran) but they would not act upon it."<sup>2</sup>

Those callers and preachers who invite others to piety, encourage them towards prayer, fasting, Zakat and Hajj, forbid them from Harām acts like lies, backbiting, tale telling, envy, arrogance etc., but forget about themselves should take a lesson from this. They do not even sense that on the Day of Judgement, they too will be judged, and they too will be asked about their deeds.

The proof of Islam, Imām Muḥammad al-Ghazālī مرحمة الله عليه said, advising one of his students, "O my beloved son! Knowledge without action is not less than madness and foolishness and action without knowledge is impossible. Remember! That knowledge which, up until today, could not keep you away from sins and could not bring about love of obedience to Allah Almighty, will not be able to save you from the raging fire of hell tomorrow on the Day of Judgement. If you do not act righteously today and make up for that time which has already

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Majma' al-Zawa • id: 235

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Shuʿab al-Īmān: 1773

passed, then tomorrow on the Day of the Day of Judgement, you will have only one cry:

فَارْجِعْنَانَعْمَلْ صَالِحًا إِنَّا مُوْقِنُونَ ٢

So send us back in order that we do good deeds; we are (now) convinced.<sup>1</sup>

Then you will be told, 'O ignoramus! You are coming from that very place.' Cultivate aspiration in your soul, strive against your nafs and consider death very close to yourself, because your destination is the grave and the people of the graveYard are awaiting your arrival in every moment asking when you will arrive to them. Be warned! Fear, lest you reach them without any provision for the path!"<sup>2</sup>

#### The end of an idle preacher

Take lesson from another noble hadith describing the end of an idle preacher that causes one to tremble. The Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيُهِ وَالهِ وَسَلَّم that on the Day of Judgement, a person will be brought and placed into hell as a result of which his intestines will come out. He will go around them the way a donkey travels around a millstone. The dwellers of hell will come around him and will ask, "O such and such! What happened to you? Did you not invite the people to good and forbid them from evil?" He will reply, "Yes indeed! I used to command people with good but did not act upon it myself. I used to forbid people from evil but I used to do it myself."<sup>3</sup>

There is no effect in the invitation of preachers who do not make themselves an example for encouraging others and do not bring themselves out of the dark closet of idleness whilst trying to make others active in good action. In contrast to this, the word which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 21, Surah Al-Sajdah, verse 12)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ayyuha Al-Walad, p. 12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim: 2989

issues from the mouth of a preacher who is active in good becomes an effective arrow that embeds in the heart of the one he is calling and compels him to become a living embodiment of the Sunnah. Let us learn about a faith reviving statement of a preacher who is active in good whilst calling towards righteousness and let us manifest the desire to do good actions within ourselves.

#### The Repentance of a Qādiyānī Professor

It is mentioned on page 10 of the 49-page pamphlet, "*Tazkirah-e-Ameer-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat*," published by Dawat-e-Islami's publishing department, Maktaba-tul-Madinah, "In around 2003, a letter reached Ameer of Ahl al-Sunnah (تات ترتكائيلز العالية in which a professor had written words to the effect that, "I am associated with the Qādiyānī religion and hold a high position amongst them. Up until now, I have misguided 70 Muslims and made them become Qādiyānī. I took part in the (Dawat e Islami) ijtima' in Sardarabad (Faisalabad) with a skeptical mind but after listening to your sermon, my world has been turned upside down. After this, a preacher gave me some cassettes of your speeches. The state of my heart had changed after listening to just one speech but after listening to the other cassettes, I began to shudder and wept all night. What shall I do now?"

Without delay, exerting individual effort, the Ameer of Ahl al-Sunnah penned a reply and sent it off telling the man to repent immediately and enter Islam and also to find a way of returning however many Muslims he had متناذات led into apostasy back to Islam.

Upon this letter reaching that professor, he answered the call of the Ameer of Ahl al-Sunnah دامت بتركائيلو العالية and immediately repented and became a Muslim. The father and family members of this brother then treated him with intense severity, but he remained firm. تستعند كُولُمُ

through the blessings of listening to the speech of the Amer of Ahl al-Sunnah المتشبّركائيةو العاليه, his entire family was eventually saved from the Qādiyānī religion and entered into Islam.<sup>1</sup>

صَلُّوا عَلَى الْحَبِيْبِ صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَى مُحَمَّد

#### **People Hanging from Branches of Fire**

On the night of Mi'rāj, the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيُووَالهِ وَسَلَّم saw some people in hell hanging from branches of fire. The Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيُو وَالهِ وَسَلَّم asked, "O Jibril! Who are these people?" He replied, "These are those people who swore at their parents in the world."<sup>2</sup>

Remember! Annoying one's parents and harming them is an action that leads a person to the hellfire. In the Quran, Allah Almighty has forbidden chiding and even saying 'Uff' to one's parents:

## فَلَا تَقُلُ لَّهُمَا أُفٍ وَّلَا تَنْهَرُهُمَا وَقُلُ لَّهُمَا قَوْلًا حَرِيْمًا ٢

## So, do not say (even) 'Ugh' to them and do not scold them, and speak to them words of respect.<sup>3</sup>

There is other worldly punishment for disobedience and causing harm to parents. However, one has to face dreadful punishment in this world also. It is seen repeatedly that those who annoy and harm their parents spend their lives humiliated and disgraced by their own children in turn. Sayyidunā Abū Bakr al-Ṣiddīq مَشِى اللهُ عَلَهُ مَا اللهُ عَلَهُ وَاللهُ وَسَلَّمُ stated, "Allah Almighty forgives whichever sin He wills for whichever person, but He does not forgive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tazkirah e Ameer-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat, vol. 1, p. 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Al-Zawajir, vol. 2, p. 125

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, verse 23)

disobedience and causing of harm to parents, rather he punishes such a person in this worldly life before his death."<sup>1</sup>

Dil duKhāna chor day maan baap ka Warna hai is mayn khasara aap ka Kar lay toba Rabb ki rahmat hai bari Qabr mayn warna saza ho gi kari

*Give up hūrting your mother and father Otherwise, there is great loss for you* 

Repent! For vast is the mercy of your Lord, most dear Otherwise, the punishment in the grave will be severe

صَلُّوا عَلَى الْحَبِيْبِ صَلَّى اللهُ عَلَى مُحَمَّد

#### **Three Punishments of Adulterers and Fornicators**

Adultery is an extremely sinful and degraded sin. There are many emphases on avoiding adultery in the noble Quran and hadith and they mention intense punishments for those that commit such an act. It is stated in the noble Quran:

## وَلَا تَقْرَبُوا النِّنِى إِنَّهُ كَانَ فَاحِشَةً وَسَآءَ سَبِيُلًا

And do not even go near Zina (fornication/adultery i.e. unlawful intercourse); it is indeed shamelessness, and a very evil way.<sup>4</sup>

The renowned exegete, Ḥakīm al-Ummah, Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'īmī مخمة الله عليه states in explanation of this verse, "i.e. Save yourselves from the causes of adultery as well. Thus, the lustful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Shuʿab al-Īmān: 7890

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wasa `il-e-Bakhshish, p. 228

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wasa `il-e-Bakhshish, p. 227

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, verse 32)

glance, seclusion with a non maḥram woman, and for a woman not to observe proper veil etc. are all prohibited."<sup>1</sup>

An adulterer is abased and disgraced in this world and will be subjected to an intensely humiliating punishment in the next world. On the night of Mi<sup>r</sup>rāj, the Prophet حَلَّ الله عَلَيْهِ دَالهِ مَسْلًا الله عَلَيْهِ دَالهِ مَسْلًا الله عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْ

#### **Putrid Flesh Eating People**

It is narrated that the Prophet حَلَّى الله عَلَيهِ وَالهِ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى الله عَلَيهِ وَالهِ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى اللهُ عَلَيهِ وَالهِ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَاللهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَاللّهُ عَلَيهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيهُ وَاللّهُ عَلَيهُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَاللّهُ مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَاللّهُ مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَعَلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَعَلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَعَلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَعَلَى مَعْلَى وَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى وَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مُ وَعَلَى مَعْلَى مَ معالى م

#### **People Hanging Upside Down**

The Prophet مَعْلَى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّى also saw another scene of the punishment of adulterers where some women were being hung from their chests and some from their legs. The Prophet asked, "Who are they, O Jibril?" He replied, "These are the women that would commit adultery and would kill their children."<sup>3</sup>

#### Rocks of fire in their mouths

On the night of Mi'rāj, the holy Prophet صَلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَاللهِ وَسَلَّم saw groups of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Nūr Al-<sup>C</sup>Irfān, part 15, Surah Bani Isra`il, Under the verse 32, p. 343

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tafsir Al-Tabari, Surah Al-Isra`, under the verse 1, vol. 8, p. 8, Hadith 22021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ibid, p. 13, Hadith 22023

people whose lips resembled the lips of camels. Their mouths were being pried open by individuals placed over them who were placing large rocks of fire into them that came out again from their posteriors. The Prophet متلَّ الله عليه واله وسلَّم asked, "O Jibril! Who are these people?" He replied, "They are those people (then he recited the following verse):<sup>1</sup>

## ٱلَّذِيْنَ يَأْكُلُوْنَ آمُوَالَ الْيَتْلى ظُلْمًا إِنَّمَا يَأْكُلُوْنَ فِيُ بُطُوْنِهِمُ نَارًا \*

Those who consume the wealth of orphans unjustly; they are actually only filling their bellies with fire.<sup>2</sup>

Misappropriating the money, possessions, inheritance or any type of wealth or property of orphans has a severe consequence in the afterlife.

Many warnings of grave punishment have come concerning this in the Quranic verses and the Prophetic hadith, as you have just noted. It should be remembered that just as there are warnings of severe punishment in hell concerning devouring the wealth of orphans and treating them badly, there are also glad tidings of safety from the terrifying punishment of hellfire for treating them with softness and kindness and dealing with them with compassion and benevolence. The Prophet مَتَلَ الله عَلَيَهِ وَالله وَعَلَى الله عَلَيهِ وَالله وَعَلَى الله عَلَيهِ وَالله وَعَلَى اللهُ عَلَيهِ وَالله وَعَلَى وَعَلَى اللهُ عَلَيهِ وَاللهُ وَعَلَى مُعْلَى اللهُ عَلَيهِ وَاللهُ وَعَلَى وَعَلَى وَعَلَى وَعَلَى اللهُ عَلَيهِ وَاللهُ وَعَلَيهُ مَعْلَى اللهُ عَلَيهِ وَعَلَى وَعَلَى وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَى وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيهُ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَيْهُ وَعَلَيْهُ وَعَلَيْ وَعَلَي

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Al-Shari `ah Lil-Aajurri, vol. 3, p. 1532, Hadith 1027

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> [Kanz-ul-Iman (Translation of Quran)] (Part 4, Surah Al-Nisa`, verse 10)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Al-Mu'jam Al-Awsat, vol. 6, p. 296, Hadith 8828

#### **Eating Thorny Grass and Cacti as Punishment**

On this night, the Prophet مَعَلَى اللهُ عَلَيُو دَالَهِ رَسَلَمُ passed by such people who had rags hanging at their front and back. They were roaming like livestock eating cacti<sup>1</sup> and heated rocks of hell. He مَتَلَى اللهُ عَلَيُو دَالَهِ مَعْلَى اللهُ عَلَيُو دَالَهِ مَعْلَى مَعْلَى اللهُ عَلَيُو دَالَهُ مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى اللهُ عَلَيُو دَالَهُ مَعْلَى مُعْلَى مَعْلَى مُعْلَى مُعْلَى مُعْلَى مُعْلَى مُعْلَى مُعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مُعْلَى مُعْلَى مَعْلَى مُعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مَعْلَى مُعْلَى مُعْلَى مَعْلَى مُعْلَى مَعْلَى مُعْلَى مُ مُعْلَى مُعْ

Not paying Zakat despite it being fard is an action that leads a person to hell. Intense punishments are mentioned in the noble Quran and the hadith regarding this. Sayyidunā Abū Ḥūrayrah مرضى الله عليه والله متلك بله عليه والله وتسلّم said, "Whoever Allah Almighty bestowed wealth upon and he did not pay its Zakat, then on the Day of Judgement, his wealth will be given the form of a bald serpent upon whose eyes will be two black spots. It will wrap like a necklace around his neck, and it will take hold of him in its jaws and say, "I am your wealth and your treasure."<sup>3</sup>

#### **Terrifying Punishment for Not Paying Zakat**

Take heed! Who is it that can endure such a terrifying punishment on the Day of Judgement? Oath by Allah Almighty! No one has the strength to bear such a frightful punishment, and it is not restricted to just this form, rather many other punishments are mentioned in the hadith.

The reviver of Islam, the Imām of Ahl al-Sunnah, Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān متحة اللوعليه mentioning them briefly, states, "The summary is that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A thorny, poisonous plant with green leaves and flowers that are multi-coloured. It has nearly 100 varieties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Al-Targhīb wal-Tarhīb: 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ṣaḥīḥ al-Bukhārī: 1403

if Zakat is not paid on gold and silver, then it will be heated in the fire and their foreheads, sides and backs will be branded with it. The heated rock of hell will be placed on their heads and chests such that it will breach the chest and exit from the shoulders. It will be placed on the shoulder blades such that it will rupture the bones exiting from the chest, tearing through the back it will exit from the flank, and ripping through the nape it will rise up from the forehead.

That wealth upon which Zakat is not given will come on the Day of Judgement in the form of an old, malevolent, bloodthirsty serpent and chase the person. He will try to stop it with his hand, but it will devour his hand. It will then become like a collar around his neck and taking his mouth in its mouth, it will bite him (saying) that, "I am your wealth, I am your treasure." Then it will bite his entire body. وَالْعِيَاذُبِاللَّهِ رِبَ الْعُلَيَدِينَ

#### **Repent!**

Reflect on these punishments and then look at your weakness and incapacity. Ah! The state of our weaknesses is such that a minor cold or fever puts us in anguish. How will it be possible for us to endure the agonising punishments of the Hereafter?

For this reason, time is still at hand, fear, and whomever despite it being fard upon him has not fulfilled his Zakat in the past should first repent and then calculate the Zakat he owes and pay it as quickly as possible. Otherwise, if this opportunity slips through one's hands, and death arrives before repentance, there will be no further chance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Fatawa Razawiyyah, vol. 10, p. 153

Kar le toba Rabb ki rahmat hai bari Qabar men warna saza ho gi kari

Repent! For vast is the mercy of your Lord, most dear Otherwise, the punishment in the grave will be severe



#### Who is honourable?

Sayyidunā Mūsā Kalimullah عليوالشلام said, "O my Lord, the Most High اعتَرَجَلَ Who is the most honourable of people in Your Court?" Allah Almighty replied, "He who pardons, despite being able to take retribution."<sup>2</sup>

# Learning a verse from the Book of Allah is better than 100 *nawafil*

Sayyidunā Abū Dharr al-Ghifārī مرضى الله عنه narrates that the Prophet مرضى الله عنه said to me, "O Abū Dharr! That you learn one verse from the Book of Allah Almighty in the morning is better for you than offering 100 nawafil."<sup>3</sup>

#### **Giving Legal Verdicts Without Knowledge**

The admonishing statement of the master of the Prophets متلَّى الله عَلَيْهِ وَالله وَسَلَّم is, "Whoever passed a legal judgement without knowledge, then the sin of it is upon the one who issued it."<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wasa`il-e-Bakhshish, p. 667

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Shuʿab al-Īmān: 8327

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Sunan Ibn Mājah: 219

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sunan Abī Dawūd: 3657

BIBLIOGRAPHY		
S. NO.	Author/ Compiler	Publisher/YOP
	Along with date of demise	
1.	Al-Qur`an Al-Kareem	Maktaba-tul-
	Kalaam-e-Bari Ta'ala	Madinah Karachi
		1432 Hijri
2.	Kanz-ul-Iman fi Tarjumah Al-Qur`an	Maktaba-tul-
	A'la Hazrat Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān,	Madinah Karachi
	Mutawaffa 1340 Hijri	1432 Hijri
3.	Jami' Al-Bayan fi Taweel Al-Qur`an	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	(Tafseer Al-Tabri)	'Ilmiyah Beruit
	Imām Abū Ja'far Muhammad bin	2009
	Jareer Tabri, Mutawaffa 310 Hijri	
4.	Al-Jami' li Ahkaam Al-Qur`an	
	(Tafseer Al-Qurtabi) Imaam Abū 'Abdullah Muhammad bin	Dar Al-Fikr Beruit
	Aḥmad Ansaari Qurtabi, Mutawaffa	1429 hijri
	671 Hijri	
5.	Al-Dur Al-Mansoor fi Al-Tafseer bil	Manlrog Lliin lil
	Masoor	Markaz Hijr lil Bahos wa Al-
	Imām Jalal-ud-Deen 'Abdul Rahman bin	Darasat, 1424 hijri
	Abū Bakr Suyuti, Mutawaffa 911 Hijri	
6.	Tafseer Al-Mazhari	Dar-ul-Ihya` Al-
	Qazi Sana Ullah Mazhari Pani Patti,	Tiras Al-'Arbi,
_	Mutawaffa 1125 Hijri	1425 hijri
7.	Khaza`in Al-'Irfaan	Maktaba-tul-
	Ṣadr-ul-Afazil Muftī Muhammad Na'eem-ud-Deen Murad Abadi,	Madinah Karachi
	Na eem-ud-Deen Murad Abadi, Mutawaffa 1367 Hijri	1432 Hijri
8.	Noor Al-'Irfaan	
0.	Hakeem Al-Ummat Muftī Ahmad Yaar	Na'eemi Kutab
	Khān Na'eemi, Mutawaffa 1391 Hijri	Khāna Gujraat
9.	Shan-e-Habeeb Al-Rahmaan	
	Hakeem Al-Ummat Muftī Ahmad Yaar	Na'eemi Kutab
	Khān Na'eemi, Mutawaffa 1391 Hijri	Khāna Gujraat

10.	Ṣaḥīḥ Al-Bukhārī	Dar Al-Ma'rifah
	Imām Abū 'Abdullah Muhammad Bin	Beruit 1428 Hijri
	Isma'eel Bukhari, Mutawaffa 256 Hijri	, ,
11.	Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Imām Abū Hussain Muslim Bin	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Hajjaaj Qashiri, Mutawaffa 261 Hijri	2008
12.	Sunan Ibn-e-Mājah	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Imām Abū 'Abdullah Muhammad bin	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Yazeed Ibn-e-Mājah, Mutawaffa 273 Hijri	2009
13.	Sunan Abi Dawood	
	Imām Abū Dawood Sulaiman Bin	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Asha'as Sajastani,	'Ilmiyah Beruit
	Mutawaffa 275 Hijri	1428 hijri
14.	Sunan Al-Tirmizi	Dar Al-Kutub Al-
	Imaam Abū ʿĪsā Muhammad bin ʿĪsā	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Tirmizi, Mutawaffa 279 Hijri	2008
15.	Sunan Al-Nisa`i	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Imām Abū 'Abdul Rahmaan Aḥmad	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Bin Shu'aib Nisa`i, Mutawaffa 303 Hijri	2009
16.	Al-Mu`taa-lil-Imām Mālik	
	Imaam Abū 'Abdullah Mālik Bin Anas	Dar Al-Ma'rfah
	bin Mālik, Mutawaffa 179 Hijri	Beruit 1433 Hijri
17.	Şahīh Ibn-Hubban	
	Imām Abū Haatim Muhammad Bin	Dar Al-Ma'rifah
	Hubban Bin Ahmad Tamimi,	Beruit 1425 Hijri
	Mutawaffa 354 Hijri	,
18.	Al-Mustadrak 'Ala Al-Ṣaḥīḥeen	
	Imām Abū 'Abdullah Muhammad Bin	Dar Al-Ma'rfah
	ʻAbdullah Hakīm Nishapori,	Beruit 1427 Hijri
	Mutawaffa 405 Hijri	,
19.	Al-Musnaf li Ibn-e-Abi Shaybah	
-	Hafiz 'Abdullah Bin Muhammad Bin	Madina-tul-
	Abi Shaybah Kofi 'Absi, Mutawaffa	Awliya` Multan
	235 Hijri	
		l

20.	Musnad Al-Imaam Ahmad	Dar Al-Kutub Al-
20.	Imaam Ahmad Bin Hambal,	'Ilmiyah Beruit
	Mutawaffa 241 Hijri	1429 hijri
21.	Al-Mu'jim Al-Aousat	1429 IIIJI1
21.	,	Dar Al-Fikr
	Hafiz Sulaiman Bin Aḥmad Tibrani,	ʻUman 1420 Hijri
- 22	Mutawaffa 360 Hijri	Maktaba Al-
22.	Al-Musnad lil Shashi	
	Abū Sa'eed Al-Haysam Bin Kaleeb	'Uloom wa Al-
	Bin Saree' Shashi, Mutawaffa 335 Hijri	Hukm 1410 hijri
23.	Al-Musnad Al-Firdous	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Abū Shujaa' Shayrwiyyah bin Shāhr	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Daar Daylmi, Mutawaffa 509 Hijri	1407 hijri
24.	Baghyat Al-Bahis 'an Zawa`id	Markaz Khidmah
	Musnad Al-Haris	Al-Sunnah wa Al-
	Hafiz Noor Al-Deen 'Ala Bin Sulaimaan	Sirah Al-
	Hayshmi, Mutawaffa 807 Hijri	NAbūwwah, 1413
		hijri
25.	Shu'ab Al-Iman	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Imām Abū Bakr Aḥmad Bin Hussain	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Bayhaqi, Mutawaffa 458 Hijri	1429 hijri
26.	Al-Sunan Al-Kubra	Dar Al-Kutub Al-
	Imām Abū Bakr Aḥmad Bin Hussain	
	Bayhaqi, Mutawaffa 458 Hijri	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
27.	Al-Jami' Al-Sagheer	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Imām Jalal-ud-Din 'Abdul Rahmaan Bin	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Abū Bakr Suyuti, Mutawaffa 911 Hijri	1433 hijri
28.	Al-Shari'ah	Den A1 147-4-
	Imām Abū Bakr Muhammad Bin	Dar Al-Watan,
	Hussain Aajri Baghdadi, Mutawaffa	Al-Riyaz
	360 Hijri	1416 Hijri
29.	Majma' Al-Zawa`id	
	Hafiz Abū Al-Hasan Noor Al-Deen	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	ʻAli Bin Abū Bakr Hayshmi,	'Ilmiyah Beruit
	Mutawaffa 807 Hijri	1422 hijri
1		

30.	Mouso'ah Al-Imaam Ibn-e-Abi Al- Dunyah Imām Abū Bakr 'Abdullah Bin Muhammad Qarshi, Mutawaffa 281 Hijri	Dar Al-Kutab Al- ʻIlmiyah Beruit 1429 hijri
31.	Mishkat Al-Masabih Abū 'Abdullah Wali Al-Deen Muhammad bin 'Abdullah Tibrizi, Mutawaffa 741 Hijri	Dar Al-Kutub Al- ʻIlmiyah Beruit 1428 hijri
32.	Kanz-ul-'Ummal 'Ala-ud-Deen 'Ali Muttaqi Bin Hassam Al-Deen Hindi, Mutawaffa 975 Hijri	Dar Al-Kutub Al- ʻIlmiyah Beruit 1424 hijri
33.	Dala`il Al-NAbūwwah Imām Abū Bakr Aḥmad Bin Hussain Bayhaqi, Mutawaffa 458 Hijri	Dar Al-Kutab Al- ʻIlmiyah Beruit 1429 hijri
34.	Al-Khasa`is Al-Kubra Imām Jalal-ud-Deen 'Abdul Rahman Bin Abū Bakr Suyuti, Mutawaffa 911 Hijri	Dar Al-Kutab Al- 'Ilmiyah Beruit 2008
35.	Al-Riyaz Al-Nadrah Abū Ja'far Aḥmad Bin ʻAbdullah Bin Muhammad Tibri, Mutawaffa 694 Hijri	Dar Al-Gharb Al- Islami 1996
36.	Fath Al-Bari Hafiz Aḥmad bin 'Ali bin Hijr 'Asqalani, Mutawaffa 852 Hijri	Dar-ul-Islaam, Al- Riyaz 1421 hijri
37.	<sup>°</sup> Umdah Al-Qari <sup>°</sup> Allama Badr-ud-Deen Abū Muhammad Mahmood Bin Aḥmad <sup>°</sup> Ayni, Mutawaffa 855 Hijri	Dar-ul-Fikr, Beruit 1426 hijri
38.	Mir`aat Al-Manajih Hakeem Al-Ummat Muftī Aḥmad Yār Khān Na'eemi, Mutawaffa 1391 Hijri	Na'eemi Kutab Khānah Gujrat
39.	Az Zawajir 'An Iqtiraf Al-Kabaa`ir Shāhab-ud-Deen Aḥmad bin Muhammad bin Hijr Haytmi, Mutawaffa 974 Hijri	Dar-ul-Hadees Al-Qahirah 1423 hijri

40.	Attarchash Wattarhash	Dar-ul-Ma'rifah,
40.	Attergheeb Watterheeb	
	Imām Zaki-ud-Deen Manzri,	Beruit
	Mutawaffa 656 Hijri	1429 hijri
41.	Al-Seerah Al-NAbūwwah Abū	Dar-ul-Fajr lil-
	Muhammad 'Abdul Mālik Bin	Tiras Al-Qahirah
	Hashsham, Mutawaffa 213 Hijri	1425 hijri
42.	Mawahib Al-Duniyah	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Shāhab-yd-Deen Aḥmad bin	'Ilmiyah Beruit
	Muhammad Qastalani, Mutawaffa 923	2009
	Hijri	2009
43.	Sharh Al-Zurqani 'Ala Al-Mawahib	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Muhammad bin 'Abdul Baqi Bin	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Yousuf Zarqani, Mutawaffa 1122 Hijri	1418 hijri
44.	Al-Sirah Al-Hulbiyah	Dar Al-Kutab Al-
	Imām Bu Al-Farj Noor-ud-Deen 'Ali	ʻIlmiyah Beruit
	Bin Ibrāhīm, Mutawaffa 1044 Hijri	2008
45.	Al-Sirah Al-NAbūwwah Wal Aasar	
	Al-Muhammadiyah	Dar-ul-Qalm Al-
	Abū Al-'Abbas Ahmad bin Zayni wa	'Arabi Halb
	Hullaan Makki Shafa'i, Mutawaffa	1417 hijri
	1304 Hijri	j
46.	Anwaar-e-Jamal-e-Mustafa	
	Ra`ees-ul-Mutakallimeen Muftī Naqi	Shabbir Brothers
	'Ali Khān, Mutawaffa 1297 Hijri	Lahore
47.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Kitab Al-Mi'raaj	Dar Baybliyon
	Imām Abū Al-Qasim, 'Abdul Kareem bin	Baris
	Hawazin Qashiri, Mutawaffa 465 Hijri	
48.	Hāshiyah Al-Dardir 'Ala Qissah Al-	Dar Ahya Al-
	Miʿrāj lil Ghayti	Kutab Al-
	Abū Al-Barkat Syidi Aḥmad Dardir,	'Arabiyyah
	Mutawaffa 1201 Hijri	
49.	Al-Bidayah Wa Al-Nihayah	Dar Al-Ma'rifah
	Hafiz 'Immad-ud-Deen Bin Ims'eel Bin	Beruit
	'Umar Dimashqi, Mutawaffa 774 Hijri	1426 hijri
	· · /	· · ·

50.	Sorah-tul-Arz	Dar Maktabah Al-
	Abū Al-Qasim Muhammad bin Houqal	Ahyah
	Baghdadi, Mutawaffa 367 Hijri	1992
51.	Al-Khayrat Al-Ihsaan	
	Shāhab-ud-Deen Aḥmad bin	Dar Al-Kutub Al-
	Muhammad bin Hijr Makki,	ʻIlmiyah Beruit 1403 hijri
	Mutawaffa 923 Hijri 974	1405 mjn
52.	Tazkirah Ameer-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat	
	Shu'bah Ameer-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat,	Maktaba-tul-
	Majlis Al-Madinah Al- Al 'Ilmiyah	Madinah Karachi
	(Da'wat-e-Islami)	
53.	Manh Al-Rouz AL-Azhar	Dar Al-Basha`ir
	'Allāmah 'Ali Bin Sultan Muhammad	Al-Islamiyyah
= 4	Al-Qari, Mutawaffa 1014 Hijri	1419 hijri
54.	Aiyyuha Al-Wald	Maktabah
	Hujjat Al-Islaam Imām Abū Hamid Muhammad Bin Muhammad Ghazali,	Nizamiyah Gujrat
	Muhammad Bin Muhammad Ghazan, Mutawaffa 923 Hijri 505	1404 hijri
55.	Kitaab Al-Kabaa`ir	
55.	Shams-ud-Deen Abū 'Abdullah	Dar-Al-
	Muhammad Bin Aḥmad Zahbi,	Naduwwah Al-
	Mutawaffa 748 Hijri	Jadidah Beruit
56.		
30.	Fatawa Razāwiyyah	Razā Foundation
	A'la Hazrat Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān,	Lahore
<b>F7</b>	Mutawaffa 1340 Hijri	
57.	Malfuzaat-e-A'la Hazrat	Maktabah
	Muftī-e-A'zam Hind Moulana	Nizamiyah Gujrat 1430 hijri
	Muhammad Mustafa Razā Khān,	
	Mutawaffa 1402 Hijri	,
58.	Bahar-e-Shari'at	Maktaba-tul-
	Ṣadr-us-Shari'ah Muftī Muhammad	Madinah Karachi 1432 hijri
	Amjad 'Ali A'zami, Mutawaffa 1367	
	Hijri	1 192 111/11

59.	Maqalaat-e-Kazimi Ghazali-e-Zaman ʿAllāmah Sayyid Aḥmad Sa'eed Kazimi, Mutawaffa 1406 Hijri	Kazmi Publications Multan
60.	Kufriya Kalimaat kay baray mayn suwaal Jawaab Ameer-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat Hazrat ʿAllāmah Moulana Muhammad Ilyas ʿAttar Qadri	Maktaba-tul- Madinah Karachi 1430 Hijri
61.	Qasidah Al-Burdah Ma'a Sharhiha 'Asidah Al-Shuhdah Aḥmad Bin Abū Bakr Bosri, Mutawaffa 840 Hijri	Maktaba-tul- Madinah Karachi 1430 Hijri
62.	Hadaa`iq-e-Bakhshish A'la Hazrat Imām Aḥmad Razā Khān, Mutawaffa 1340 Hijri	Maktaba-tul- Madinah Karachi 1433 Hijri
63.	Zouq-e-Na'at ShāhanShāh-e-SuKhān Moulana Hasan Razā Khān, Mutawaffa 1326 Hijri	Shabbir Brothers Lahore 1428 Hijri
64.	Bayaz-e-Pak Hujjat Al-Islam Moulana Hamid Razā Khān, Mutawaffa 1362 Hijri	Maktaba-tul- Madinah Karachi 1434 Hijri
65.	Qabalah-e-Bakhshish Khalifah-e-A'la Hazrat Moulana Jameel-ur-Rahmaan Razāwi	Akbar Book Sealers Lahore
66.	Wasaa`il-e-Bakhshish Ameer-e-Ahl-e-Sunnat Hazrat ʿAllāmah Moulana Muhammad Ilyas ʿAttar Qadri	Maktaba-tul- Madinah Karachi 1432 Hijri

# JOURNEY BEYOND THE HEAVENS

After meeting Sayyidunā Ibrāhīm عَلَيُوالسَّلاَم on the seventh sky, the noble Prophet مَنَّ لَنَهُ عَلَيُووَالِمِوَسَلَّم ascended to Sidrat Al-Muntahā. It is a luminous lote tree whose roots are in the sixth sky and branches are above the seventh. Its fruit is large like the jars of the place known as Hajar and its leaves are like the ears of the elephant.

Sayyidunā Jibril عَلَيْوالسَّلَّام said. "This is Sidrat Al-Muntahā." The Prophet مَنَّ لَقَعَلَيُووَالِبَوَسَلَم noticed four rivers emanating from the base of Sidrat Al-Muntahā, two hidden rivers and two visible ones. The Prophet مَنَّ لَقَعَلَيْوَوَالِبَوَسَلَم asked, "What are these rivers, O Jibril?" He replied, "The hidden ones are two rivers of Paradise. The visible ones are the Nile and the Euphrates."





Aalami Madani Markaz, Faizan-e-Madinah, Mahallah Saudagaran Purani Sabzi Mandi, Bab-ul-Madinah, Karachi, Pakistan UAN: +92 21 111 25 26 92 | Ext: 7213 Web: www.maktabatulmadinah.com | E-mail: feedback@maktabatulmadinah.com